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About this report
Purpose of this report
The Annual Report accounts for the activities of the Department of Children and Families for
2011-12. The report outlines the department’s functions and its achievements against the
performance measures outlined in Budget Paper No.3 for 2011-12 as well as the agency’s
Strategic Plan 2012-15.
This is the second annual report since the department was established in January 2011. The
department consists of the former Northern Territory Families and Children Division which was part
of the then Department of Health and Families.
While working towards fully establishing its own systems, some of the department’s systems
remain shared with the Department of Health. Where this is the case, shared systems are detailed
within this report.
Pursuant to section 28 of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act and section 12
of the Financial Management Act, the report aims to inform Parliament, Territorians and other
stakeholders of:
• the primary functions and responsibilities of the department;
• significant activities undertaken during the year; and
• the department’s fiscal management and performance.

Target audience
The 2011-12 Annual Report provides information to a broad range of audiences, including:
• relevant Ministers;
• Members of the Legislative Assembly;
• departmental staff and future employees;
• other Northern Territory, Australian and local government agencies;
• community and non-government organisations, particularly those that deliver services in
partnership with the department;
• key industry bodies; and
• the wider public.

The Honourable Robyn Lambley MLA
Minister for Families and Children
Minister for Women’s Policy
The Honourable Terry Mills MLA
Minister for Young Territorians

Dear Ministers
In accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act,
I am pleased to submit the 2011-12 Annual Report on the activities and achievements of the
Department of Children and Families.
The report describes activities and performance outcomes against the department’s budget
plan commitments and highlights key achievements for the past year.
Pursuant to the Financial Management Act, the Public Sector Employment and Management
Act and the Information Act, I advise that to the best of my knowledge and belief:
a) proper records of all transactions affecting the department are kept and the employees
under my control observe the provisions of the Financial Management Act, the Financial
Management Regulations and the Treasurer’s Directions;
b) procedures within the department afford proper internal control, and these procedures
are recorded in the Department of Health’s Accounting and Property Manual, which has
been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act
The department is currently finalising its own Accounting and Property Manual;
c) there is no indication of fraud, malpractice, major breach of legislation or delegation, 		
major error in, or omission from, the accounts and records;
d) the internal audit capacity available to the department is adequate and the results of
internal audits have been reported to me;
e) the financial statement included in this report has been prepared from proper accounts
and records and is in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions;
f)

all Employment instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment have
been satisfied; and

g) procedures within the department complied with the requirements of the Information Act.
Yours sincerely

Clare Gardiner-Barnes
Chief Executive
27 September 2012
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PART I
It is with much pleasure that I present the
second Annual Report of the Department of
Children and Families. The department came
into being on 1 January 2011 when the Northern
Territory Families and Children Division was
split from the Department of Health and
Families. Since that time, the department has
achieved an impressive amount in the area of
child protection and family wellbeing services.
One of the main tasks of the department
was implementing the 147 recommendations
handed down by the Board of Inquiry (BOI)
into the Northern Territory’s Child Protection
System. The BOI’s report Growing them
strong, together was the most extensive review
of child protection services in the Northern
Territory’s history. The report made 34 urgent
recommendations to be commenced within six
months, 108 semi-urgent recommendations to
be commenced within eighteen months and five
important, but not urgent recommendations to
commence within two to three years.
Since its formation the department has made
considerable progress in implementing the
BOI recommendations. As at 30 June 2012, of
the 147 recommendations, 40 were complete
and 107 had commenced. Of the 34 urgent
recommendations, 14 were complete and 20
were still underway. Of the 108 semi-urgent
recommendations, 26 were complete and 82
underway. Of the five important but not urgent,
two have been completed and three are in
progress.
By any measure, the effort taken to achieve
this progress has been significant and has
included changing the model of Central Intake
to a twenty-four-hour-a-day, seven-day-aweek operation with improved processes and
response times, designing and implementing
the department’s first Strategic Plan 2012-15,
conducting the department’s first Manager’s
Conference, overseeing the successful
introduction of the Care and Protection of
Children (Information Sharing) Amendment Bill

and associated information sharing framework,
supporting the establishment of a new peak
body for vulnerable Aboriginal children, young
people and their families SAF,T (Strong
Aboriginal Families, Together) and many others.
Another area in which the department has
made major progress is that of collaborative
partnerships with other government agencies
and the NGO sector. There is an established
network of directors across government to
ensure challenges and projects are not only
on-the-radar of other interested agencies, but
that they have the opportunity to contribute to
shaping responses and direction. The same is
true of our NGO partners. The department now
works much more closely with Foster Carers
and NGO’s to ensure aligned services delivery
and an active cross-pollination of ideas and
practices. These advances are making service
delivery across the board much more effective
and targeted.
It was mentioned in passing to me recently
by one of our key NGO partners that the
department has moved forward ten years in
the last two years, and I am pleased to say I
agree. The sheer volume of challenging work
successfully undertaken during the year is a
testament to the passion and hard work of
all staff of the department, foster and kinship
carers, our government agency associates and
our non-government partners.
I look forward to the future, which no-doubt
will be challenging, but will also offer many
opportunities for us to ensure the continued
safety and wellbeing of Territory children and
families.

Clare Gardiner-Barnes
Chief Executive
27 September 2012
ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12
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Key highlights 2011-12
July 2011
• The process for introduction of information
sharing provisions under the Care and
Protection of Children Act commenced with
the first consultation taking place in Alice
Springs.
• Changes to the Care and Protection
of Children Act expanding the role and
function of the Children’s Commissioner
came into effect.
• The Department of Children and Families
(DCF) launched its intranet site providing an
important avenue of communication readily
accessible to staff. Prior to this point, DCF
staff shared the Department of Health’s
intranet.
• The Working With Children Clearance came
into effect making it mandatory for those
who work with children to undergo the
necessary clearance checks.
• This month saw the creation of the Alice
Springs Town Based Remote Aboriginal
Family Community Program (RAFCP),
including the employment of four fulltime-equivalent remote Aboriginal family
community workers to service 18 town
camps, and provision of a link for families
when they move between remote
communities in Central Australia and town
camps in Alice Springs.

August 2011
• The first Child Protection External
Monitoring and Reporting Committee
report on progress of reforms arising from
the 2010 Board of Inquiry was tabled
in the Legislative Assembly. The report
considered DCF on track with the reforms,
and applauded the substantial work that
had occurred in the first ten months of the
process.
• DCF hosted a non-government organisation
(NGO) specific forum seeking input on a
whole-of-government policy on shelter for
homeless people in severe weather events.
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September 2011
• The DCF Supervision Framework was
launched to encourage learning and
provision of support for all staff through
professionally competent and accountable
practices.
• The Centre for Child Development and
Education was officially opened. This
is a joint initiative between DCF, the
Departments of Health, Education and
Training, and the Menzies School of Health
and Charles Darwin University.
• DCF celebrated National Child Protection
Week by supporting and hosting a number
of events, including the National Association
for the Prevention of Child Abuse and
Neglect (NAPCAN) breakfast and the
Foetal Alcohol Syndrome Disorder Panel
Discussion.
• DCF hosted the inaugural NGO
Partnerships Forum as a mechanism for
collaboration and engagement between
DCF’s Chief Executive and NGOs.
• The Office of Women’s Policy and business
and professional Women Northern Territory
jointly hosted the Equal Pay Day Seminar
in Darwin. DCF also released its research
on the causes of gender pay inequity in the
Northern Territory.

October 2011
• Foster Care NT’s new premises at the
Lyons Community Centre in Darwin were
officially opened. Additional funding was
also announced for Foster Care NT as part
of the launch.
• Early indications were showing that DCF’s
move to 24/7 operations at Central Intake
Services had seen a significant reduction in
response times to notifications.

November 2011
• In another significant step towards
reforming the Northern Territory Child
Protection System, DCF launched its
Community Child Safety and Wellbeing
Teams (CCSWT) to better meet the needs
of children and families in remote areas
across the Northern Territory. CCSWT

December 2011
• DCF continued to roll out the Kids Play in
Safe Houses initiative across the Northern
Territory. By December 2011, nine of the 12
Safe Houses across the Northern Territory
had received fun and educational toys for
children.
• The Youth Minister’s Round Table of Young
Territorians presented its community based
project recommendations to the Minister for
Young Territorians at Parliament House.
• DCF took part in the annual YouthWork
Northern Territory 2011 Future Jobs Forum
to encourage young people to consider a
career in DCF.

January 2012
• DCF continued to solidify its move
towards regionalisation of services by
finalising recruitment to three new Practice
Adviser positions, critical to the delivery
of professional, timely and consistent
casework support in child protection
and alternative care across the Northern
Territory.
• Funding was committed under the
Alice Springs Transformation Plan for a
joint project (auspiced by DCF and the
Department of Justice (DoJ)) to develop
and trial an Integrated Response to Family
Violence in Alice Springs over three years.

February 2012
• The new Aboriginal peak body for the
safety and wellbeing of children, youth and
families became an incorporated entity in its
own right and known as Strong Aboriginal
Families, Together (SAF,T).

• DCF, in partnership with DoJ, released
updated resources pertaining to Northern
Territory Domestic Violence Orders to
assist people in need of protection and for
defendants.
• Nine DCF employees, including three
Aboriginal staff, graduated with a Graduate
Certificate in Remote Health Practice (Child
Protection), a qualification delivered by the
Centre for Remote Health as a joint initiative
of Charles Darwin and Flinders Universities.
• Following preliminary consultations
undertaken in late 2011, the Office of
Women’s Policy undertook in depth
consultations on a new women’s policy with
the first forum held in Alice Springs and a
subsequent forum held in Darwin in March
2012.

March 2012
• Parliament passed the Care and Protection
of Children Amendment (Information
Sharing) Act 2007 permitting the lawful
exchange of information between
authorised information sharers in relation to
the safety and wellbeing of a child. This is
the first legislation of its kind in Australia to
include foster carers as information sharers.
• The Mums and Bubs program was launched
at the Gap Road facility in Alice Springs.
The program provides support to mothers
and babies in need of intensive housing and
parenting support; prepares young mothers
and their babies for independent living;
and assists young women with appropriate
educational or employment opportunities.
• The Minister for Women’s Policy presented
Parliament with the final progress report on
the Government’s policy for women Building
on Our Strengths – A Framework for Action
for Women in the Northern Territory 20082012. The report noted key achievements
in women’s advancement including
targeted services for women in the areas of
maternity, drug and alcohol rehabilitation,
sport, infrastructure, economic security,
education, business and employment.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12
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see, for the first time, child protection
professionals based in remote areas.
• The 2010 Board of Inquiry report Growing
them strong, together recommended
that DCF commission an independently
conducted morale survey with all staff. Over
80 per cent of DCF staff responded to the
independent survey.
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April 2012
• The 2012 whole-of-government Child Safety
and Wellbeing Plan was released. DCF led
the development of the plan which outlines
the contributions of Northern Territory
Police, and the Departments of Health,
Education and Training, Housing Local
Government and Regional Services, Justice
and the Chief Minister to the child safety
and wellbeing agenda.
• The DCF Executive Leadership Group
endorsed the establishment of a DCF
Aboriginal policy unit as the Aboriginal
Collaboration, Engagement and Strategy
(ACES) Unit.
• The Office of Youth Affairs assisted in the
coordination of 153 activities and events
across the Northern Territory as part of the
National Youth Week 2012.
• As part of its commitment to building
the capacity of its NGO partners, DCF
sponsored 10 NGO employees to undertake
the Diploma of Child Youth and Family
Intervention qualification.

May 2012
• The DCF Strategic Plan 2012-15 was
launched outlining DCF’s priorities and
goals to 2015.
• DCF held its first Managers Conference
aimed at inspiring and empowering its
managers in leading and managing staff.
• DCF funded an Northern Territory wide
domestic and family violence forum,
convened by the Alice Springs Women’s
Shelter where more than 90 NGO and
government stakeholders from across the
Northern Territory met to consider emerging
issues for the sector.
• The Minister for Women’s Policy announced
the 2012 recipients of the Chief Minister’s
Scholarships for Women. The annual
scholarships assist one higher education
and two vocational education training
students.
• Four Community Child Safety and
Wellbeing Team practitioners were posted
in the remote communities of Maningrida,
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Gapuwiyak, Borroloola and Yuendumu.
Together with practitioners already based
in Yirrkala and Wurrumiyanga (Nguiu), their
posting enables the co-ordination of child
safety activities throughout communities
and provides DCF staff with an initial
point of reference when planning visits to
communities.

June 2012
• Infrastructure upgrades at Women’s Safe
Houses in Ngukurr, Wugularr, Kalkarindji,
Lajamanu, Ntaria, Ti Tree, Yarralin and
Maningrida were completed. The upgrades
resulted in a more welcoming environment
for children, clients, visitors and safe
houses staff.

PART I

Department of Children and Families’ Executive
Leadership Group
Role
The Executive Leadership Group (ELG) assists the Chief Executive with strategic management
and operation of the Department of Children and Families. ELG meets monthly and is responsible
for setting the governance standard and ethos that staff draw on in a bid to improve the lives of
vulnerable children, families and individuals.

Key functions
•
•
•
•
•

Sets strategic direction and objectives.
Develops and oversees the implementation of strategic plans, policies and programs.
Monitors performance against plans, budgets and targets where appropriate.
Oversees strategic management of departmental resources.
Oversees corporate governance arrangements.

Executive Leadership Group members

Clare Gardiner-Barnes
Chief Executive
Clare was appointed the Chief
Executive of the Department of
Children and Families in June
2011 after acting in the role
of Acting Chief Executive and Executive
Director Northern Territory Children and
Families in the former Department of Health
and Families.
Clare has held senior executive roles in the
Department of Education and Training and
worked for four years in the Department of
Families in the Queensland Government.

Over the last 12 months, Clare has
continued to lead the agency through its
second year of a major reform agenda with
an emphasis on restructuring the agency
to: support regionalised service delivery;
continual improvement and prioritisation
of program development and service
delivery for vulnerable children individuals
and families; and a commitment to driving
cultural change through the agency to
ensure a more client centred, accountable
and transparent approach to the work of
DCF at all levels.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12
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Lorraine Williams
Deputy Chief Executive,
Regional Services
Lorraine joined the department
in January 2011 as the Executive
Director Regional Services and
was subsequently appointed Deputy Chief
Executive. Lorraine is responsible for the
frontline service delivery including statutory
Child Protection services, Out-of-Home
Care services and adoptions, domestic
and family violence services and sexual
assault counselling and support. She is
also responsible for Territory wide service
delivery through the Central Intake Team,
court support and Remote Services.

Prior to her current role Lorraine came to the
Northern Territory from New Zealand where
she was the general manager for New
Zealand’s Child Protection System.

Karen Broadfoot
Executive Director,
Office of the Chief Executive
Karen commenced in the
department in December 2003
and has undertaken a range of
positions across the agency, before being
appointed as the Executive Director for the
Office of the Chief Executive in June 2012.
Her previous roles include: Director for
Strategic Legal and Policy Unit; Manager for
Casuarina Child Protection Services; Team
Leader at Central Intake and Sexual Assault

Counsellor. She is currently responsible for
practice integrity and complaints, ministerial
liaison and media and communications.

DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

Over the last 12 months, Lorraine has led
wide ranging reforms and the delivery of
new services and service models, including
the development and implementation of
the regional service model across the
Northern Territory, reformed the operation
of the central intake team and oversaw
the established of new Multi Agency
Assessment Teams in Darwin and Alice
Springs as well as Child Safety and Well
Being Teams in remote areas.

Over the last 12 months, Karen has applied
her diverse frontline child protection and
policy expertise and experience to the
formation and operation of the Practice
Integrity and Complaints Management
(PCIM) Branch, and supported a focus on
increased transparency and accountability
and practice reflection within DCF.

PART I

Executive Leadership Group members
Lisa Braid
Senior Director,
Strategic Reform and
Accountability Team
Lisa joined the department in
October 2011 following several
years leading the Strategic Policy Unit
within the Department of Housing, Local
Government and Regional Services. Lisa
is responsible for overseeing the reform
agenda relating to the commitments
established under the Board of Inquiry into
Child Protection in the Northern Territory.

Lisa has worked in a range of policy
areas in the Northern Territory, Australian
Capital Territory and Queensland including
intergovernmental relations, remote service
delivery, Aboriginal affairs, drug and alcohol
policy and housing and homelessness.

Stephanie Fielder
Regional Executive Director,
Katherine and Northern Region
Stephanie joined the department
as the Regional Director for
the Katherine and Northern
Region in August 2011 following a position
as the Government Business Manager
for the Department of Families, Housing,
Community Services and Indigenous Affairs
(FAHCSIA) in Minjilang on Croker Island.

and remote areas of Queensland, the
Northern Territory and the United Kingdom.

Stephanie has extensive experience in the
human services field across urban, regional

Over the last 12 months, Lisa has led the
finalisation of the whole of government
Child Safety and Wellbeing Plan, the reform
of the Care and Protection of Children Act
and coordinated the financial allocation,
management and reporting of the Board of
Inquiry report recommendations.

Over the last 12 months Stephanie has
focused on delivering better outcomes for
remote Aboriginal children and families in
the Katherine and Northern Region through
improved practice, support and development
for staff, and over the longer term, creating
strong collaborative relationships with
communities and key government and nongovernment partners.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12
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Executive Leadership Group members
Fiona Lynch
Executive Director,
Strategic Policy and Performance
Fiona joined the department in
January 2011 as Acting Director,
Strategic Policy and Performance
and was subsequently appointed as
Executive Director in July 2011. Fiona
is responsible for corporate planning,
performance and reporting, research and
evaluation coordination, strategic policy
and legislative review, the Aboriginal
Collaborative Engagement Strategy and the
Office of Women’s Policy.

roles in Victorian community services,
and lectured in health and community
development. Her foundation experience
was service provision to homeless young
people and women who were survivors of
family violence.
Over the last 12 months, Fiona has
led development of the DCF Strategic
Plan, introduction of information sharing
amendments to the Care and Protection
of Children Act and is the DCF lead for
the Stronger Futures National Partnership
Agreement.

Prior to working in the Northern Territory,
Fiona worked in executive management

Sue Moore
Executive Director,
Care and Protection Policy and
Program Development
Sue commenced in the
department in September 2011 as
the Executive Director Care and Protection
Policy and Program Development. In
this role Sue was responsible for the
development of policy, practice and program
development reforms that support child
protection and out of home care services
across the Northern Territory. Sue came
to the department from the Australian
Government Department of Human Services
where she was the Business Manager
Social Work Services.
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Sue has over 25 years experience in
service delivery and management in the
areas of child protection, sexual assault
services, Centrelink, the Family Court and
Department of Defence. Sue holds a Social
Work degree, Master of Social Science
(Welfare and Social Policy) and Master of
Social Work (Advanced Practice).
Over the last 12 months Sue led
progress on a number of Board of Inquiry
recommendations and reforms to the
child protection system, including the
implementation of structured decision
making for front line staff, implementation of
the Information Sharing amendments and
the foster care reimbursement strategy.

PART I

Executive Leadership Group members
Simone Jackson
Regional Executive Director,
Central Australia Region
Simone joined the Department
as the Regional Director for
the Central Australian Region
in August 2011. Simone was formerly the
Regional Director for the Department of
Communities, including child protection
services in Queensland.
Simone has 20 years of public sector
experience in areas spanning, Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander affairs,
correctional services, child protection,
youth affairs and non government sector
development and grants administration
and management. Simone is committed

Joanne Townsend
Executive Director,
Social Inclusion Policy and
Program Development
Joanne was appointed to the
position of Executive Director,
Social Inclusion Policy and Program
Development in September 2011 from the
position of Director, Youth Services. Joanne
is responsible for policy and program
development relating to homelessness,
domestic and family violence and sexual
assault, non government policy and
partnerships, youth justice and the Office of
Youth Affairs.

to increasing the Aboriginal community
footprint of DCF, including building
relationships that educate and inform
to reduce the numbers of indigenous
young people and families within the child
protection system in Central Australia.
Over the last 12 months, Simone has
strengthened partnerships within the non
government sector and other partner
agencies with DCF and stabilised staffing in
the Alice Springs and Barkly child protection
offices. Simone has also been the DCF
lead on whole-of-government priorities to
respond to young people at risk through
her role in Operation Marathon and the
operation of the Alice Springs Youth Hub.

Joanne has significant experience in the
Northern Territory Public Sector including:
executive level positions in the alcohol
and other drugs field and policy, program
development and research roles in the
alcohol and other drugs, aged and disability
and family and children’s services sector.
Over the last 12 months Joanne has
refocused the department’s approach to non
government sector engagement and grants
management. Joanne has also supported
the establishment of the Aboriginal Child
and Family Peak body and the transition of
youth justice policy and program functions
to the Department of Justice.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12
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Executive Leadership Group members
Janette Howard
A/Executive Director,
Corporate Services
Janette Howard joined the
department in February 2011 to
steer workforce and business
service reform. In March 2012, Janette
became the Acting Executive Director
Corporate Services.

Prior to joining the Department Janette
was the project leader of the New Era in
Corrections reforms and the acting Director
of Corporate Services with the Department of
Justice.

Fran O’Toole
Regional Executive Director,
Greater Darwin Region
Fran commenced in the role of
Regional Executive Director,
Greater Darwin in August 2011.
Her previous roles include Director of Family
and Individual Support Services, senior
policy and management roles in sexual
assault, domestic and family violence and
women’s policy roles.

executive level saw her well placed to
develop the staffing profile, services and
program responses in the Greater Darwin
region. Over the last 12 months, Fran
has been responsible for implementing
a regional model in Greater Darwin and
in forming effective service relationships
across other Government agencies and the
non government sector in the interests of
vulnerable children, individuals and families.

During her period as Executive Director,
Janette progressed the embedding of the
governance arrangements associated with
establishing a new department, oversaw the
development of a learning pathways strategy
Janette has over 20 years experience in
corporate and business services, marketing to improve workforce skills and capability,
and supported the implementation of a
and communications and organisational
reform in both the public and private sectors. regionalised child protection service model.

Fran’s experience in innovative program
development and service delivery at an
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PART I – INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW
About the Department of
Children and Families
Who we are and what we do
The Department of Children and Families
(DCF) was established in January 2011 as
part of the Northern Territory Government’s
response to the report of the 2010 Board of
Inquiry into the Child Protection System in
the Northern Territory, Growing them strong,
together, which called for an increased focus
on child protection.
DCF provides services to a population of about
220 000 in an area spanning more than
1.3 million square kilometres. DCF
increased its local service focus through the
establishment of regionally based service
teams in 2011-12. The regions are Greater
Darwin, Katherine and Northern, and Central
Australia. Staff are located in the five main
service centres of Darwin, Katherine, Tennant
Creek, Alice Springs, Nhulunbuy and a number
of remote communities.

Our vision, mission, values and
key stakeholders
Our vision
Strong families, safe children, better futures.

Our mission
Making a difference by supporting parents and
families to care for their children, improving
opportunities for vulnerable individuals
and developing increasingly connected
communities.

Our values
Respectful: We are respectful of our clients,
our partners, our stakeholders and one
another, showing regard for cultural ways,
individual wellbeing, interests and rights.
Responsive: We recognise and respond to
the diversity of our clients, our people, our
partners and our stakeholders.
Client-centred: Our clients are central to what
we do – we aim to work with people in a fair
and equitable manner at all times.
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Outcomes focused: We focus on quality,
outcomes and continuously build our skills,
knowledge and capability to achieve positive
results with our clients and the communities
we serve.
Collaborative: We actively seek authentic
engagement for better results and shared
goals.
Ethical: We perform our work with integrity,
honesty and professionalism.
Accountable: We are open, accountable
and transparent in our decision making and
processes.

Our clients and stakeholders
• Children and young people who have
experienced harm or are at risk of abuse
and / or neglect.
• Children who are removed from their
parents or relinquished by them through
adoption services.
• Children and young people requiring care
and support through out-of-home care
services.
• Parents, primary carers and foster carers
who need support to provide safe care for
their children through coordinated access to
family support, parenting services, respite
and foster care support services.
• Families experiencing domestic and family
violence, or escaping violence. Children,
young people and adults who have
experienced sexual assault.
• People who are homeless and requiring
support through specialist homelessness
services.
• Young people through a whole-ofgovernment approach to policy for young
people and the provision of youth services.
• Women through the provision of gender
specific policy advice to Northern Territory
Government agencies.
• A strong, people focused non-government
sector.
• Individuals and communities affected by
disaster through leading disaster welfare
recovery responses.

Seventy-nine per cent of staff were female and
21 per cent male, with a combined average
age of 41 years.

Revenue

Of the 865 employees, 37 per cent (325 staff)
were employed in locations outside the Darwin
metropolitan area.

Funding is provided to DCF for a range of
services. Funding includes:
• Parliamentary appropriations from the
Northern Territory Government for family
and parent support, child protection, outof-home care, youth, family violence and
sexual assault services; and
• revenue from the Australian Government
(such as specific purpose payments and
national partnership agreement payments)
for child protection, homelessness, family
violence and services for Aboriginal people.

Our environment
DCF operates in a challenging environment
where a number of factors impact directly and
indirectly on service delivery.

A young population
In the Northern Territory, a larger proportion
of the population are aged under 18 years
compared to any other Australian jurisdiction.
The Northern Territory’s Indigenous population
is younger than the non-Indigenous population,
with 40 per cent of Indigenous people under
the age of 18 years compared to 23 per
cent of the non-Indigenous population. In
2011, there were 1.53 Indigenous adults per
Indigenous child in the Northern Territory,
compared to 3.39 non-Indigenous adults per
non-Indigenous child – this impacts on DCF’s
capacity to place Indigenous children with an
Indigenous adult carer.

During 2011-12, DCF recognised
$181.3 million in revenue from:
• grants and subsidies: $12.9 million;
• Northern Territory Government
appropriations: $138.4 million;
• Australian Government appropriations:
$24.4 million;
• sales of goods and services:65 $0.1
million;
years and
over
60‐64
years
and
65 years and over
55‐59
55
59 years
60‐64 years
• other revenue: $5.5
million.
50‐54 years
55‐59
55
59 years

45‐49 years
50‐54 years
40‐44 years
45‐49 years
years
40‐44expenses
years
DCF’s total operating
for35‐39
2011-12
30‐34 years
35‐39 years
was $181.8 million 30‐34
which
included:25‐29 years
years
20‐24 years
25‐29 years
• employee expenses:
$72.6 million;
15‐19 years
20‐24 years
• grants and subsidies:
$76.4 million;
10‐14 years
15‐19 years
10‐14
years
• purchase of goods and services:5‐9 years
0‐4 years
$24.9 million; and5‐9 years
Age (years):
0‐4 years

Expenditure

Our people

15%

10%

5%

Population Pyramid Northern TerritoryIndigenous
Indigenous
Persons
Indigenous Persons

15%

10%

0%

5%

As at 30 June 2012, DCF had 865 employees,
with approximately 80 per cent of the
workforce providing frontline services.
Approximately 14 per cent of staff were
employed on a part-time basis.
One hundred and thirty-six (16 per cent) staff
self-identified as Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander. This is an increase of over 33 per
cent for the same time last year.

Non Indigenous Persons

(Source: ABS Census 2011, 2002.0.I03)

(years):
• other expenses:Age
$7.9
million.
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Non Indigenous Persons
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25‐29
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20‐24
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15%

10%

10%

15%

15%
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5%

0%
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15%
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A dispersed population

service delivery in remote and very remote
areas. As shown in the table below, 44 per
The Accessibility/Remoteness Index of
cent of the Northern Territory population live
Australia (ARIA) has been used to develop the
in either remote or very remote locations,
following classes of remoteness (often referred
with the remainder of the population living in
to as geographical locations, or geolocations).
areas classed as outer regional. The Northern
This system measures remoteness based
DRAFT 6.1:
13 have
Sep 2012
Territory is the only jurisdiction
to not
any
on the road distance travelled to the nearest
population
living
in
either
a
major
city
or
inner
service centre. Remoteness affects access to
regional locations.
goods, services and opportunities for social
with the remainder of the population living in areas classed as outer regional. The NT is the only
interaction, including cost associated with
jurisdiction to not have any population living in either a major city or inner regional locations.

with the remainder of the population living in areas classed as out
jurisdiction to not have any population living in either a major city
PercentagePercentage
of population
by
classification
of population
by remoteness
remoteness classification
Percentage of population by remoteness classification

100%

100%

90%90%
80%

80%70%
60%

70%50%
40%

60%

30%
20%

50%

10%

40%0%

NSW

Vic
Major Cities

Qld
Inner Regional

SA

Outer Regional

WA

Remote

Tas

Very Remote

NT

ACT

30%
20%
10%
0%
NSW

Vic
Major Cities

Qld
Inner Regional

SA

Outer Regional

WA

Remote

Tas

Very Remote

NT

ACT

(Source:
ABS
Regional Population Growth 2011, 3208.0.1)
(Source: ABS Regional Population Growth
2011,
3208.0.1)

Aboriginal
population
Aboriginal
population
In 2011,
27 per
centcent
of the
Northern
Territoryidentified
population
identifiedor
asTorres
Aboriginal
or TorresThis
Strait
In 2011,
27 per
of the
NT population
as Aboriginal
Strait Islander.
Islander. This compares to a national average of 2.5 per cent.
compares to a national average of 2.5 per cent.
Percentage of population that identify as Indigenous
Percentage
of population that identify as Indigenous
30%

27%

25%

(Source: ABS Regional Population Growth 2011, 3208.0.1)
20%
15%
10%
Aboriginal
population
5%
4%
2%

1%

2%

3%

4%

1%

3%

0%
In 2011,
27 per cent of the NT population identified as Aboriginal o
NSW
Vic
Qld
SA
WA
Tas
NT
ACT
Total
compares
to a national average of 2.5 per cent.
(Source: ABS 2011 Census of Population and Housing, 2002.0.)
(Source: ABS 2011 Census of Population and Housing, 2002.0)

Other factors

Percentage of population that identify as

DCF is also impacted by:
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an under-developed non-government sector compared to other jurisdictions;
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Other factors
DCF is also impacted by:
• escalating demand for child protection
services;
• an under-developed non-government sector
compared to other jurisdictions;
• a shortage of skilled workers in the
community services sector and the ongoing
need to recruit professional child protection
workers from interstate and overseas;
• a highly mobile population, both within the
Northern Territory and across jurisdictional
borders;
• significant gaps in socio-economic and
health outcomes between Aboriginal and
non-Aboriginal populations;
• a high cost of living, notably for
accommodation and food necessities;
• housing shortages and high rates of
overcrowding in remote areas;
• remote infrastructure and service deficits;
• the extensive system and practice reforms
required to respond to the Board of Inquiry;
and
• major national reforms and initiatives
including the Australian Government’s
Stronger Futures in the Northern Territory
initiative.
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Audit and Risk
Management Committee

NT Youth Justice
Advisory Committee

NT Families and
Children Advisory
Council

NT Child Protection
External Monitoring &
Reporting Committee
Minister for
Women’s Policy

Regional Executive Director
Central Australia Region

Regional Executive Director
Katherine and Northern Region

Department of Health Shared Service Arrangements and Governance Committees

Human Resource
Management Committee

Regional Executive Director
Greater Darwin Region

Executive Director
Care and Protection Policy and
Program Development

Finance Committee

Senior Director Strategic
Reform Accountability Team

Executive Director
Strategic Policy and Performance

Information
Management Committee

Executive Director
Social Inclusion Policy and
Program Development

Deputy Chief Executive
Regional Services

Minister for
Young Territorians

Executive Director
Corporate Services

Chief Executive

Executive Leadership Group

Minister for
Child Protection

Executive Director
Office of the Chief Executive

Minister for
Children and Families

DCF corporate governance structure 2011-12

Workplace Health and
Safety Committee

Youth Minister’s
Round Table of
Young Territorians
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DCF corporate governance structure 2011-12

PART II

During 2011-12, DCF reported to the:
• Minister for Children and Families;
• Minister for Child Protection;
• Minister for Women’s Policy; and
• Minister for Young Territorians.
Ministers received advice from four Government appointed committees (members as at
30 June 2012 are listed in Appendix 1(a)):
• Child Protection External Monitoring and Reporting Committee;
• Northern Territory Families and Children Advisory Council;
• Youth Minister’s Round Table of Young Territorians; and
• Youth Justice Advisory Committee.
The Minister for Child Protection was also supported by the Screening Authority Committee which
addresses Working With Children Clearance (Ochre Cards) applications referred by SAFE NT.
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Corporate governance committees
DCF has established six corporate governance committees (membership details at Appendix 1(a)):
Committee

Role

Key Functions

Executive
Leadership
Group

• Assists the Chief
Executive with
strategic management
and operation of the
department

• Sets strategic direction and objectives for DCF
• Develops and oversees the implementation of strategic
plans, policies and programs
• Monitors performance against plans, budgets and targets
where appropriate
• Oversees strategic management of departmental resources
• Oversees corporate governance arrangements
• Considers other matters as appropriate

Audit
and Risk
Management
Committee

• Provides independent
and objective advice
to assist the Chief
Executive in discharging
responsibilities under the
Financial Management
Act. The Committee
also established a
subcommittee to consider
and provide advice on
disaster management,
recovery and welfare
issues on an agency and
whole-of-government
basis

• Monitors strategic risks and the adequacy of controls
established to manage identified risks
• Monitors and reviews the adequacy of policies, practices
and procedures in relation to their contribution to, and impact
on, DCF’s internal control environment
• Monitors the internal audit function including development
of audit programs and monitoring of audit outcomes and the
implementation of recommendations
• Reviews financial statements and other public accountability
documents (such as annual reports) prior to their approval
by the Chief Executive
• Assesses the state of organisational governance and
recommend strategies for improvement
• Liaises with external auditors regarding audits conducted
and respective audit plans
• Approves the annual internal audit plan and terms of
reference for internal audit activity
• Oversees a Disaster Recovery Management Sub-Committee
established to consider disaster management/recovery/
welfare issues and activities on an agency and/or whole-ofgovernment basis
• Undertakes other functions as determined by the Chief
Executive

Finance
Committee

• Assists the Chief
Executive with effective
financial management of
the deparment

• Oversees controls and measures to manage and monitor
operational budgets
• Reviews and approves financial policies
• Recommends rectification strategies for operational budgets
where appropriate
• Monitors DCF’s capital program
• Considers financial advice on proposed/amended
departmental programs
• Oversees development of the annual budget and forward
estimates
• Oversees agency resource management strategies
• Considers and makes recommendations on financial matters
as appropriate
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Committee

Role

Key Functions

Information
Management
Committee

• Provides guidance to
the Chief Executive
on the development,
management and
use of information
/ communications
resources and technology
in the department

• Oversees and monitors information/communications
resources and technology activity

Human
Resource
Management
Committee

• Provides guidance to
the Chief Executive on
the development and
implementation of human
resource management
policy and planning in the
department

• Provides recommendations on the delivery/development of
major information management; knowledge management;
and information and communications technology initiatives

PART II

• DCF is not a stand-alone
provider of information/
communications
resources and technology
with shared services
arrangements and
dependency upon the
Department of Health

• Reviews and approves information/communications
resources and technology policies and plans

• Monitors the delivery of major information resource and
technology initiatives
• Provides advice and direction in relation to Northern Territory
Government information communications technology
initiatives
• Considers and makes recommendations on information/
communications resources and technology matters as
appropriate
• Oversees and monitors human resourcing requirements
• Reviews and approves human resource management
policies
• Strategic advice on recruitment and retention strategies
• Advice on alignment of the workforce to the department’s
outcomes
• Advice on strategies to increase the department’s Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Aboriginal workforce participation
• Advice on middle and senior management succession
planning
• Oversees development of professional training programs
• Advice on enterprise bargaining negotiations and industrial
matters
• Considers and makes recommendations on human resource
management matters as appropriate

Workplace
Health
and Safety
Steering
Committee

• Provides advice to the
Chief Executive on
workplace health and
safety issues for the
department

• Strategic advice and policy development on workforce health
and safety issues
• Provides strategic direction on workplace, health and
safety matters to the various workplace health and safety
committees to ensure:
– DCF meets its legislative responsibilities
– continuous workplace health and safety improvement
across DCF
– the integration of workplace health and safety principles
into DCF’s core functions and management systems
• Receives advice on significant issues from workplace
committees

A list outlining DCF representation on various national and Northern Territory committees is at
Appendix 1(b).
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The Department’s Strategic Plan 2012-15 was
launched at the inaugural DCF Managers’
Forum in May 2012. The Strategic Plan sets
out the key priorities and goals that will drive
the department’s work over the next three
years.
The Strategic Plan was informed by input
from key stakeholders including the Northern
Territory Council of Social Services, Strong
Aboriginal Families, Together (SAF,T), Office
of the Children’s Commissioner, and DCF’s
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Advisory
Group.
The Strategic Plan emphasises the following
goals:
• earlier and better quality support;
• keeping kids safe;
• supporting children and young people in
care;
• strengthening individuals and families; and
• strengthening communities.
To achieve these goals, the Strategic Plan
includes ‘organisational enablers’ that
recognise the importance of:
• collaborating with partner organisations;
• recruiting and supporting staff;
• creating a professional and high
performance culture; and
• responding to diversity, gender and cultural
differences.

Internal reviews
Reviews play a key part in DCF’s policy and
program development approach. This is
evident in DCF’s new approach regarding the
foster care allowance and the development of
DCF’s strategic workforce plan (both examples
are covered in more detail in Parts III and IV of
this report).
Some of the reviews commenced or completed
in 2011-12 include:
• key child protection services including
Central Intake and the Child Abuse
Taskforce;
• review and completion of the organisational
structure of DCF; and

• review of workforce issues to inform
the development of the DCF Strategic
Workforce Plan, including:
− staffing and resourcing of the workforce
development unit;
− roles and functions of Aboriginal
Community and Remote Aboriginal Family
and Community Workers; and
− overseas and interstate recruitment
strategies.

Review of whole-ofgovernment policies
In 2011-12, DCF commenced the review of
two Northern Territory whole-of-government
policies that it had lead responsibility for:
• the Youth Policy Framework (Office of Youth
Affairs); and
• the Framework for Action for Women in
the Northern Territory (Office of Women’s
Policy).
Extensive consultations took place with
key stakeholders, NGOs, public forums,
and across Northern Territory government
departments as part of the review process.
Feedback from both reviews will help inform
future policies in the youth and women’s
advancement areas.

External reviews carried
out on DCF
Northern Territory Ombudsman
report on the child protection
system: a life long shadow
The Northern Territory Ombudsman’s report
on the Northern Territory Child Protection
System, A Life Long Shadow, was tabled in
the Legislative Assembly in August 2011.
The report provided an analysis of DCF’s
involvement with a number of families, as well
as identified areas for improvement within the
child protection system. The report contained
28 recommendations – 26 for DCF and two for
the Department of Health (DoH).
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The Minister for Child Protection requested
that the Child Protection External Monitoring
and Reporting Committee (CPEMRC) monitor
DCF’s implementation of the Ombudsman’s
recommendations through implementation of
Board of Inquiry reforms.
Of the 26 recommendations, 15 have been
completed and 11 are in progress.
Appendix 2 outlines the status and actions
taken by DCF against each of the Ombudsman
recommendations.

Coronial findings
During 2011-12, DCF continued to implement
the Coronial recommendations made in
January 2010 resulting from two Coronial
Inquests. Of the total 16 recommendations
(refer Appendix 3):
• eight have been fully implemented; and
• eight have been superseded and are
being implemented through responses
to the Board of Inquiry recommendations
(including seven that are intended to be
implemented when amendments to the
Care and Protection of Children Act are
introduced).
There were two Coronial Inquests regarding
children in the care of the DCF Chief Executive
in 2011-12. There were no DCF related
recommendations made in these inquests. In
one of these inquests, the Coroner commented
that the child was well cared for while in the
care of DCF’s Chief Executive.

Child Protection External
Monitoring and Reporting
Committee
In response to the 2010 Board of Inquiry into
the Child Protection System in the Northern
Territory, the Northern Territory Government
established an independent committee of
national and local child protection experts
to monitor and report on the progress of
implementing reforms regularly and openly.
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The Child Protection External Monitoring and
Reporting Committee (CPEMRC) meets four
times per year and reports on the progress
of child protection reform to the Legislative
Assembly twice a year, through the Minister for
Child Protection. The CPEMRC is required to
conduct consultation and public engagement in
relation to the progress of reforms by meeting
with key government and non-government
staff, advisory and advocacy groups, foster
carers and young people in, or who have left,
care.
The CPEMRC’s first report was tabled in the
Legislative Assembly in August 2011, finding
that significant progress had been achieved
and DCF was essentially on track with the
reform process. The CPEMRC’s second
report was tabled by the Minister for Child
Protection in May 2012, concluding again
that the reforms were progressing well, but
that more work was needed to address other
determinants of child abuse and neglect such
as housing affordability and supply, poverty,
intergenerational joblessness, family violence,
and alcohol and substance abuse.

Council of Territory Cooperation
The Council of Territory Cooperation (CTC)
was established in October 2009, to examine
government decision making, in consultation
with the opposition and other members of the
Legislative Assembly.
Following release of the Board of Inquiry
Growing them strong, together report, the CTC
resolved to monitor the progress of reforming
the Northern Territory’s child protection system.
The CTC held a number of hearings between
2010-12 to focus on child protection.
The CTC tabled its final report in the May
2012 Legislative Assembly sittings. The report
included a chapter on child protection reform.
Key concerns for the CTC included: shortage
of staff / staff turnover, housing availability
for carers and staff, reporting systems /
governance and availability of effective
parenting programs to address neglect.

Since the establishment of DCF, DoH has
continued to provide corporate services to
DCF. In 2011-12, DoH and DCF entered into
a formal shared services arrangement for the
delivery of corporate services of an advisory
and transactional nature.
Corporate services delivered by DoH under the
shared services arrangements included:
• information management;
• business systems management;
• capital works and facilities;
• transport management (including travel and
fleet management);
• security;
• grants and procurement support; and
• human resources (HR) services – including
corporate learning and development, HR
advice and support, work health and safety,
HR reporting, employee assistance program
and management programs.
DCF’s Corporate Services Division is
responsible for:
• financial and budget management;
• workforce support including recruitment;
• workforce strategy;
• learning and development opportunities and
mandatory training for staff;
• facilities and accommodation management;
• internal audit and risk management
including disaster welfare;
• legal services; and
• the management of the shared services
arrangement with DoH.

Acts administered
by the department

• Care and Protection of Children Act 2007
(provisions relating to child protection);
• Care and Protection of Children (Placement
Arrangements) Regulations;
• Care and Protection of Children (Screening)
Regulations;
• Family Law (Child Protection Convention)
Regulations;
• Guardianship of Infants Act;
• Youth Justice Act (Part 6A); and
• Youth Justice Regulations.

Changes to legislation
Legislative amendments came into effect on
1 July 2011 in response to the Board of Inquiry,
expanding the function of the Children’s
Commissioner by:
• conferring an ‘own motion’ investigation
power allowing the Commissioner to
instigate an investigation without a
complaint;
• expanding the Commissioner’s complaints
management function through the insertion
of a new comprehensive definition of
‘vulnerable child’;
• making clear the powers exercisable by the
Commissioner in performing his functions;
and
• creating as an additional function, the
capacity to deal with submissions relating
to implementation of the Board of Inquiry
recommendations, in so far as they relate to
the wellbeing of vulnerable children.
An amendment to the Care and Protection
of Children Act 2007, to permit the lawful
exchange of information relating to the safety
and wellbeing of a child between Authorised
Information Sharers came into effect on
1 July 2012.

Legislation administered by DCF
The department administers the following Acts
and Regulations:
• Adoption of Children Act;
• Adoption of Children Regulations;
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Information and privacy
The Information and Privacy Unit deals with
formal applications received under the freedom
of information provision of the Information
Act. The Unit assists DCF staff, members of
the public and other organisations to access
government and personal information in less
formal ways.
The Unit provides advice on all aspects of
privacy protection of personal information held
by DCF.
In 2011-12, 15 applications were lodged and
accepted by DCF under the provisions of the
Information Act. All applications were finalised.

Complaints
Compliments, suggestions for improvement
and complaints are vital feedback that allows
DCF to understand its clients and stakeholders’
views.
After consultations with internal and external
stakeholders, including the Ombudsman and
the Children’s Commissioner, the Practice
Integrity and Complaints Management Branch
(PICM) was formed in 2011. PICM operates
DCF’s feedback and complaints hotline
1800 750 167 and the electronic complaints
mailbox dcfcomplaints@nt.gov.au, both of
which are publicised on DCF’s website.
In 2011-12, DCF received 143 new complaints;
97 were resolved and 46 are progressing
as at 30 June 2012. These figures included
complaints made directly to DCF, complaints
received through the Minister for Child
Protection and Children and Families, and
those received through external bodies
including the Ombudsman and the Office of
the Children’s Commissioner.
DCF is currently collaborating with DoH to
establish a complaint management database
that will enable the efficient tracking and
analysis of complaints received in 2012-13.
This new system will enhance DCF’s ability
to respond to feedback and enable greater
analysis and improved service provision.
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PART III – PERFORMANCE
Overview
This section outlines DCF’s progress against agreed outputs as outlined in budget paper no. 3.
Reference is made under each output to corresponding strategic priorities under DCF’s Strategic
Plan 2012-15, noting that a number of DCF services and programs are relevant to more than
one output. Further work will be undertaken ahead of the 2012-13 Annual Report to better align
strategic priorities and outputs.

Performance against budget paper no.3 outputs
BP3 Output 1 – Family and parent support services
2009-10
Actual

2010-11
Actual

2011-12
Estimate
Actual

$11.3M

$13.4 M

$23.3 M

$16.7M

$22.7M

3 500
334 100
44

3 600
328 500
74

3 600
334 100
30

N/A1
N/A1
34

5 500
510 400
30

$20 000

$30 000

$20 000

$20 000

$20 000

3

3

3

3

3

Output cost

2012-13
Budget

Performance measure
Clients accessing crisis support services
Crisis support days provided
Forums, workshops and consultations for women’s
advancement
Grants issued for international women’s day
activities
Scholarships for women issued
1

Data from the 2011-12 Specialist Homelessness Services Collection that replaced the SAAP National Data Collection from 1 July 2011 is not available
until November 2012.

Earlier, coordinated support for
vulnerable families to prevent child
abuse and neglect (Strategic Plan,
Strategic Priority 1.1)
• DCF developed a draft Strategic Investment
Framework to: better capture the scope
and mix of services to support vulnerable
and at risk children and families; align
services with need, priorities, evidence and
investment; and improve collaboration,
accountability and transparency regarding
funding decisions. Health Outcomes
International was commissioned
in November 2011 to assist in the
development of a program logic, undertake
a jurisdictional review and support
consultation with stakeholders.
• New funding was provided to nongovernment organisations (NGOs) in
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Katherine (Good Beginnings and Wurli
Wurlingjang Aboriginal Corporation),
Darwin (Catholic Care) and Alice Springs
(Tangentyere Council Incorporated) for the
provision of targeted case management and
family and parenting support services to
vulnerable families and children.
Services work in close partnership with child
protection practitioners and child protection
statutory processes, including receiving
DCF referrals. Services will aim to:
− strengthen the family to prevent further
occurrences of child protection concerns;
− address issues affecting parenting
capacity such as family and domestic
violence and/or substance misuse; and
− assist families to sustain a safe and
protective environment for their families.

− Barkly Region Alcohol and Drug Abuse
Advisory Group, to establish child
support worker positions who will identify
and address the needs of children
accompanying their parent to the service
and to strengthen the parenting skills of
the adults;
− Tennant Creek Women’s Refuge, to
establish child support worker positions
who will identify and address the needs of
children accompanying their parent to the
service and to strengthen the parenting
skills of the adults;
− Anyinginyi Health Aboriginal Corporation,
to increase its capacity to support
vulnerable children and their families by
working with DCF to develop a robust
service model to underpin the Stronger
Families program and Foetal Alcohol
Spectrum Disorder work.
− The Parenting Resource Centre, to
develop and implement a child and family
support practice framework to support the
delivery of early intervention services to
vulnerable children and families; and
− Julalikari Council Aboriginal Corporation,
to provide targeted play-based child and
family support activities to promote young
children’s development, learning and
wellbeing.
• DCF worked with the Departments of the
Chief Minister, Health, Education and
Training, Housing Local Government and
Regional Services, Justice and Northern
Territory Police to develop a cross-agency
Child Safety and Wellbeing Plan for 2012.
The Plan acknowledges the safety and
wellbeing of children in the Northern
Territory as a collective and shared
responsibility and outlines each agency’s
activities towards achieving better outcomes
for vulnerable children.

Increased community awareness so
that families, parents, young people
and children are supported earlier (DCF
Strategic Plan, Strategic Priority 1.2)
• A consortium of organisations, Michels
Warren Munday, Menzies School of Health
Research, NAPCAN and Captovate
were the successful tenderers to deliver
a comprehensive community education
campaign about child protection and child
wellbeing. Initial focus has been on auditing
DCF’s communications, programs and
materials and conducting literature reviews
and consultation to underpin a foster and
kinship care recruitment campaign and
broader social marketing campaign.
SNAPSHOT

Celebrating the success of our
NGO partners
In March 2012, DCF’s non-government
partner, Children’s Services Support Unit
(CSSU), was recognised by winning the
inaugural national homelessness award
for excellence in addressing Aboriginal
homelessness for its Wadeye Safe House
service.

Vulnerable families are supported in
caring for their children (DCF Strategic
Plan, Strategic Priority 4.1)
• Work to develop a Vulnerable Infants
Initiative to guide DCF staff in working with
families, to give infants under two years old
the best start in life, was progressed. This
includes the development of a draft Tune
into Little Ones resource kit that identifies
protective factors and interventions
for frontline workers that can make a
difference. Dr Sarah Mares, Child and
Family Psychiatrist and Senior Research
Fellow, Program Leader - Vulnerable
Infants and Children, Menzies School of
Health Research, has been appointed as
a consultant to assist in developing and
implementing the initiative.
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• DCF is strengthening the child and family
services system in Tennant Creek by
developing new services, expanding
existing services and providing greater
support to local child and family support
workers. New funding was provided to five
services to increase support to vulnerable
children and their families:
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• DCF continued to roll out the Kids Play in
Safe Houses initiative across the Northern
Territory.
• The Mums and Bubs program was launched
at the Gap Road facility in Alice Springs.
• The Centre for Child Development and
Education was officially opened. This
is a joint initiative between DCF, the
Departments of Education and Training,
Health, Menzies School of Health and
Charles Darwin University.
• DCF continued to fund BoysTown
Incorporated to provide a confidential,
professional telephone counselling,
support and information service (known as
Parentline) to parents, primary caregivers
and others who care for children in the
Northern Territory.
SNAPSHOT

Kids play in Safe Houses
The Kids Play in Safe Houses project began
in Wurrumiyanga (Nguiu) in March 2011
and has since been rolled out into Ntaria
(Hermannsburg), Ti Tree, Maningrida,
Angurugu, Ngukkur, Wugularr (Beswick),
Lajamanu and Yarralin. It will extend to
Raminigining, Peppimenarti and Kalkarindji
in the new year.
The toys are designed to promote children’s
development and learning. Staff can
use toys to: engage children while they
talk to mothers; help children safely and
appropriately express feelings; and support
mothers to have positive play experiences
and reconnect with their children once the
initial stress has waned.
The toys help Safe Houses staff support
children up to about 10 years of age who
may enter a Safe House with their mother
as a result of family violence. Safe House
staff can use the toys to help children feel
safe and welcome, and to have a relatively
positive and enjoyable experience during a
time of distress and dislocation from their
home environment.
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Specialist homelessness services
respond to the needs of Territorians
(DCF Strategic Plan, Strategic Priority
4.3)
• $18.3 million was provided to 51 specialist
homelessness services for: provision of
crisis, short and medium term supported
accommodation; general and specialist
counselling; case management; and
advocacy and referral for women and
children escaping domestic and family
violence, young people, single adults and
families experiencing homelessness, or
at risk of becoming homeless. DCF also
implemented 12 projects under the National
Partnership Agreement on Homelessness.
SNAPSHOT

Launch of the Mums and Bubs
program at the Gap Road facility
The Mums and Bubs program was launched
at the Gap Road Facility in Alice Springs in
March 2012.
The program provides support to mothers
and babies in need of parenting support;
prepares young mothers and their babies
for independent living; and assists young
women with appropriate education or
employment opportunities.
Young mothers and babies are provided
supported accommodation during their time
within this service.

• The Office of Women’s Policy (OWP)
undertook a number of initiatives to support
women’s advancement in the Northern
Territory. During 2011-12, OWP:
− established a whole-of-government
Gender Equality Panel tasked with
reviewing, auditing and reporting on
gender equality measures across
Northern Territory government
departments;
− partnered with business and professional
Women Northern Territory in hosting
the Equal Pay Day Seminar aimed at
raising awareness of the issue. OWP also
released findings on causes of gender
pay inequity in the Northern Territory and
a publication regarding gender pay audits
at the seminar (DCF provided $3 025
towards this seminar);

− awarded the 2012 Tribute to Northern
Territory Women acknowledging the
contribution of recipients to the Northern
Territory;
− provided $20 000 in grants to community
organisations which enabled International
Women’s Day celebrations to be held
across the Northern Territory; and
− supported 10 young Northern Territory
women to attend the Women’s Leadership
Conference held in Darwin.
• OWP provided scholarships, sponsorships
and grants for women and women’s groups.
Three recipients won the 2012 Chief
Minister’s Scholarships for Women.
• OWP sponsored and participated at the
Working Women’s Centre conference in
Timor Leste and continued to support local
events such as the Barkly Women’s Days
and the Sisters in Islam seminar, held at
Charles Darwin University.

SNAPSHOT

Chief Minister’s Scholarships for Women
The Chief Minister’s Scholarships for Women were introduced in 2001 aimed at encouraging
women to undertake training and education to enhance their employment, general life
outcomes and long-term economic security.
The Chief Minister’s Higher Education Scholarship for women is for women taking
undergraduate studies and is valued at $15 000 with a laptop computer valued at $1200.
There are two Chief Minister’s Vocational Education and Training Scholarships for Women
valued at $20 200.
Ms Sarah Morris was the recipient of the 2012 Higher Education Scholarship. Sarah will be
using the Scholarship to complete her Bachelor of Law at Charles Darwin University.
Ms Lian Qin and Ms Lina Cakap each won the Vocational Education and Training
Scholarhsips. Ms Qin will study a Certificate IV in Accounting, and Ms Cakap will be studying a
Certificate IV in Education Support.
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Women have advanced political,
economic, social, cultural and civil
status (DCF Strategic Plan, Strategic
Priority 5.2)

PART III – PERFORMANCE
BP3 Output 2 – Child Protection services
2009-10
Actual

2010-11
Actual

$28.5M

$38.9M

$47.8M

$49.4M

$52.2.M

6 589
3 150

6 533
4 602

7 500
4 900

7 970
4 257

8,000
5,400

341
82%

762
74%

86%

801
85%

100%

510
50%

711
41%

66%

1150
67%

80%

548
26%

341
21%

45%

757
49%

70%

Output cost

2011-12
Estimate Actual

2012-13
Budget

Performance measure
Child protection notifications received
Child protection investigations - finalised
Investigations of reports commenced;
- Category 1: within 1 day of notification received
Number
Per cent
- Category 2: within 3 days of notification received
Number
Per cent
- Category 3: within 5 days of notification received
Number
Per cent

Increased capacity to respond to the
needs of vulnerable children and young
people (DCF Strategic Plan, Strategic
Priority 2.1)
• In July 2011, four new structured decision
making tools were implemented within child
protection practice across the Northern
Territory. The introduction of these tools
is the culmination of nine months work in
developing the Safety, Risk, Risk
re-assessment, and Family Strengths
and Needs assessments.
• DCF undertook a comprehensive review
of the Central Intake and Afterhours Crisis
Service which resulted in the establishment
of a new 24/7 service that became
operational in September 2011.
• The Multi-agency Assessment and
Coordination (MAC) Team became
operational at Royal Darwin Hospital in
April 2012 and a team facilitator was
recruited in June 2012 to establish a
team at Alice Springs Hospital. MAC
teams bring together staff from DCF and
the Departments of Health, Education
and Training, Northern Territory Police,
Housing Local Government and Regional
Services and SAF,T to work collaboratively
to share information, assess needs, plan
services and deliver interagency responses
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to children who have been admitted to
hospital, and where significant abuse or
neglect is believed to have occurred, or the
child is at risk.
• New positions were established in each
regional office to support improved practice,
and included a Practice Adviser, Cultural
Adviser, Training Officer and Courts Officer.
• DCF made a significant investment in
developing child protection staff, including
mandatory pre-service training for all
frontline child protection staff. A particular
focus was facilitating Aboriginal staff
access to nationally accredited training that
provides career and learning pathways into
leadership and professional streams.
• There was a 16 per cent increase (350 in
total) from 2010-11 to 2011-12 in open child
protection cases. Despite this increase,
with the successful recruitment of additional
professional case workers, DCF reduced
the average caseload.

Child protection notifications 2011-12
Notifications received
Region1

Notifications that proceeded to investigations

Number

Number

Per cent

Greater Darwin

2 676

1 236

46%

Katherine & Northern

2 333

1 145

49%

Central Australia

2 707

1 463

54%

254

162

64%

7 970

4 006

50%

NT-wide
TOTAL
1

Region in which the service where notification received is located.

Finalised investigations
Substantiated

Not
substantiated

Greater Darwin

264

775

Katherine & Northern

425

326

Central Australia

567

339

NT- wide

449

365

1 705

1 805

Region1

TOTAL

Closed –
no possible
outcome2

In progress

Total

68

46

1 153

67

28

846

142

63

1 111

60

22

896

337

159

4 006

PART III

Outcome of child protection investigations (number) commenced during 2011-12

Region in which the service where investigation was carried out is located. This may be different from the region in
which the service where the child protection notification was received is located.

1

An investigation that is closed with no outcome possible is a notification made between 1 July 2011 and
30 June 2012 which was investigated, but where the investigation was not able to be finalised in order to reach the
outcome of substantiated or not substantiated. These files would be closed for administrative purposes. This may
happen, for example, in cases where the family have relocated to outside the Northern Territory.

2

Investigations finalised (number) 2011-12
Time taken to complete investigation from notification received date (days)
Region1

≤7

8-28

29-62

63-90

91-182

182+

Total2

Greater Darwin

185

351

354

116

187

125

1 318

Katherine & Northern

262

243

177

73

63

43

861

Central Australia

345

247

209

91

181

57

1 130

NT-wide

73

286

219

114

133

123

948

TOTAL

865

1127

959

394

564

348

4 257

Region in which the service where investigation was carried out is located. This may be different from the region in which the
service is located where the child protection notification was received.
2
Total number of investigations finalised includes investigations that began during 2010-11 and therefore numbers are greater
than the number of investigation outcomes that commenced during 2011-12.
1
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• In December 2011 a youth safe house
was opened in the Greater Darwin
Region offering children and young
people at risk aged 8-17 years overnight
accommodation, meals and support. The
facility complements the Alice Springs youth
safe house which opened in April 2011
and provides a safe place where Police
and child protection workers can take at
risk youth until their parents or carers can
resume looking after them, or alternative
arrangements can be made.
• Three therapeutic youth camps were
funded to support at risk young people.
The camps provide therapeutic wilderness
adventure programs to young people aged
11 to 18 years who are involved in at risk
behaviours, including offending.

Supported families stay together (DCF
Strategic Plan, Strategic Priority 2.2)
• DCF convened 29 Family Group
Conference (FGCs) sessions with Aboriginal
families. Under the FGC approach,
families work with professionals, relevant
government departments and NGO services
to develop agreed plans that address
safety concerns. FGCs resulted in a range
of family and DCF agreed outcomes that
include: re-unification plans; safe child
placement options; and plans ensuring
cultural safety and access for children
remaining in the Chief Executive’s care.
• Community Child Safety and Wellbeing
Team Practitioners were placed in the
remote communities of Wurrumiyanga and
Yirrkala in December 2011 and Maningrida,
Borroloola, Gapuwiyak and Yuendumu in
May 2012.

SNAPSHOT

Child Protection Week – NAPCAN Breakfast
On 6 September 2011, DCF in partnership with NAPCAN hosted a breakfast to launch National
Child Protection Week at the Darwin Convention Centre. The event was attended by 208
people who came together to play their part in children’s safety and wellbeing.
The Minister for Child Protection, officially launched National Child Protection Week with guest
speakers including DCF’s Chief Executive, Artist Tex Skuthorpe and local children’s author
Leonie Norrington.
Northern Territory Children’s Commissioner, Dr Howard Bath launched the As Eye See It
exhibition featuring a collection of photos taken by young people who are or have been in
care, sharing their experiences and stories with the wider community. Guests were treated to
a performance by students from Millner Primary School and viewed highlights from the Love
BiTES program.
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Children and young people are
safe with child service workers and
volunteers (DCF Strategic Plan,
Strategic Priority 2.4)

• In March 2012, the Legislative Assembly
passed the Care and Protection of Children
Amendment (Information Sharing) Act 2007
to permit the lawful exchange of information,
relating to the safety and wellbeing of a
child, between authorised information
sharers as defined in the legislation. The
new information sharing amendment
stipulates how people and organisations
can provide and receive information from
others who are helping a child and their
family.
• A major review of the Care and Protection
of Children Act commenced in March 2012.
The reforms will implement 30 Board of
Inquiry recommendations and address
a range of other policy issues that have
been raised through consultation, including
strengthening legal representation to ensure
that the best interests of children and young
people are fully considered at court.
• Legislative amendments will allow young
people who meet the criteria of admission
to be contained and receive assessment,
treatment, intensive support and care.This
will help young people learn new skills and
patterns of behaviour to improve wellbeing
and reduce the risk of harm. A draft Care
and Protection of Children (Therapeutic
Orders) Amendment Bill 2012 was released
in May 2012 as a discussion Bill for public
consultation purposes.

• The Working With Children Clearance
(WWCC) came into effect in July 2011
making it mandatory for all Northern
Territory employees and volunteers who
work with children to undergo clearance
checks. DCF implemented a whole-ofgovernment policy to ensure a consistent
approach in applying the WWCC
requirement to external contractors.
PART III

The best interests of children are
central to legislation and the legal
system (DCF Strategic Plan, Strategic
Priority 2.3)

SNAPSHOT

24 hour a day, 7 day a week
Central Intake service
A review of Central Intake was completed
and a new 24/7 service commenced in
September 2011. The new service saw a
reduction in the average call waiting time
from 12.5 minutes in September 2011 to
1.46 minutes in May 2012. Community
and professional notifiers provided positive
feedback about the new service, particularly
in relation to timeliness of response and the
professional conduct of Central Intake staff.
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BP3 Output 3 – Out-of-Home Care services

Output cost

2009-10
Actual

2010-11
Actual

2011-12
Estimate Actual

2012-13
Budget

$38.8M

$52.3M

$49.7M

$65.7M

$52.5.M

551

634

700

700

770

182 810

215 501

220 000

248 347

242 000

378

356

380

399

420

94%

94%

85%

92%

85%

Performance measure
Children in out-of-home care at 30 June
Days of out-of-home care
Children admitted to out-of-home care1
Proportion of children on a Care and Protection
Order that exited care after less than 12 months
who had one or two placements.
1

Increase due to alignment of estimates with latest figures.

Children in care are healthier and have
improved wellbeing (DCF Strategic
Plan, Strategic Priority 3.1)
• A review of out-of-home care services was
undertaken in 2011-12 to consider the
availability of quality, cost effectiveness
and culturally appropriateness of services
for children and young people. A range
of strategies are being implemented in
response, including:
− to diversify available services and
build capacity in the non-government
sector, Anglicare NT will provide house
parent models of care in Katherine and
Alice Springs;
− to improve responsiveness to foster
care inquiries, Life Without Barriers will
undertake foster care assessment and
pre-approval training on behalf of DCF;
− strategies to increase the number of
Aboriginal children being placed with
Aboriginal carers were progressed,
including: establishing a Kinship Care Unit
to increase the number of kinship carers
through targeted recruitment, assessment
and support strategies; and developing
an Aboriginal Child Placement Principle
practice guide to be incorporated into staff
training; and
− a review of foster and kinship care
payments was completed, with new rates
introduced from July 2012. Carers who
care for children assessed as having
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more complex needs receive higher levels
of reimbursement in recognition of the
additional care requirements. There is an
additional allowance for carers living in
remote locations.

Children in care participate and achieve
at school (DCF Strategic Plan, Strategic
Priority 3.2)
• Under the Child Safety and Wellbeing Plan
2012, the Department of Education and
Training gave a range of commitments to
work collaboratively with DCF to improve
early childhood and educational outcomes
for children.
• Specialised assessment and matched
learning programs were developed for a
core group of up to 10 children (aged up to
14 years) in residential care in Darwin and
Palmerston.

Children in care transition successfully
to further learning, work and
independent living (DCF Strategic Plan,
Strategic Priority 3.3)
• DCF continued to provide funding for
the Moving on Program delivered by
Anglicare NT to provide after care support
and brokerage services for young people
leaving care and those who have left
care. Young people received assistance
with accommodation, education and
training, employment, legal, health and
counselling services.

Children in care are reunified into safe
families (DCF Strategic Plan, Strategic
Priority 3.4)
• The Alice Springs reunification pilot saw
56 children reunified with their families
between September 2011 and March 2012.
The pilot identified a number of factors
that increase the potential for successful
reunification. It also identified that a more
generic developmental and embedded
model of service provision for all child
protection workers is required. A lead
social work model has been determined as
fitting with best practice, with reunification
to start from the moment which the child
or young person is taken into care, where
appropriate.
SNAPSHOT

Celebrating the achievements of
children in care
DCF’s Palmerston Care and Protection
Service Centre held a Kids in Care
achievement awards ceremony in March
2012. The award was initiated and put
in place by the team leader and case
managers in the Out-of-Home Care Teams
in DCF’s Palmerston office.
Children and young people in care were
nominated by their case managers in
consultation with their carers, for significant
achievements in areas including sport,
academic, citizenship, arts and culture, and
community service. The children and young
people, their carers and family members,
Palmerston office staff and DCF executives
came together for the presentation of the
awards.
The awards acknowledge the wonderful
things kids in care can achieve despite the
difficult times they have experienced. The
event was a great success and all who
participated came away feeling uplifted and
inspired.

Carers are engaged, retained, skilled
and supported (DCF Strategic Plan,
Strategic Priority 3.5)
• Foster Care NT received additional funds
to increase the organisation’s capacity to
participate in and support care activities,
support the delivery of carer training,
establish a peer support program to
reinvigorate their services within Alice
Springs and open a new service in
Katherine.
• Transforming the Care training for foster
and kinship carers continues to be delivered
as part of DCF’s rolling training calendar.
Train the Trainer training has been provided
to foster carers across the Northern Territory
to support the introduction of a peer
support program. A self-paced Learning
and Development program for use by foster
carers, which has a strong focus on caring
for Aboriginal children, was purchased and
will be adapted to the Northern Territory’s
context. With the success of the Carer
Excellence, Appreciation and Service
Awards in the previous year, DCF repeated
this initiative in 2011-12.
• A review of the Foster Carer Handbook was
undertaken and the new version will be
released later in 2012.
SNAPSHOT

Opening of the new Foster Care
NT office
Foster Care NT officially opened its new
offices in Darwin in October 2011.
The opening marks a growing partnership
between Foster Care NT and the
department that will see an increase in
services and a continued improvement in
service quality for Northern Territorians.
The department will work closely with Foster
Care NT to expand services in Darwin,
establish a new support service in Katherine
and potentially an office in Alice Springs.
The opening was attended by the Minister
for Children and Families, Darwin’s Deputy
Lord Mayor, foster carers, parents
and children.
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• Funded by DCF, CREATE NT continued
to provide support and activities for young
people in the care of DCF’s Chief Executive,
training and support for carers and involved
agencies, and assistance with leaving care
training.

PART III – PERFORMANCE
BP3 Output 4 – Youth services
2009-10
Actual

2010-11
Actual

$14.1M

$15.6M

$18.5M

$19.7M

$18.2M

101
N/A

128
N/A

100
48

146
60

100
56

Output cost

2011-12
Estimate Actual

2012-13
Budget

Performance measure
Grants issued for youth advancement activities
Family Responsibility Agreements

Young Territorians help shape a
positive future for the Northern Territory
(DCF Strategic Plan, Strategic Priority
5.1)
• The Office of Youth Affairs (OYA) assisted in
the coordination of 153 activities and events
across the Northern Territory as part of the
2012 National Youth Week (13 to 22 April
2012).
• OYA issued a total of 146 grants for youth
advancement to actively engage and
encourage young people throughout the
Northern Territory.
• The Northern Territory Government
awarded $40 000 in grants for the 2012
National Youth Week through a dedicated
Youth Engagement Grant round (the
Australian Government also contributed a
further $17 329 towards these grants).
SNAPSHOT

Round Table Vice Chair wins
top award
The 2011 NT Training Awards were held at
the Darwin Convention Centre in
September 2011. Connor Reid, Vice
Chairperson of the Youth Minister’s Round
Table of Young Territorians was awarded
the School Based Apprentice or Trainee of
the Year Award.
Connor is a senior student at Darwin
High School and is undertaking an
apprenticeship in Diesel Fitting. In addition
to work, studies and sporting commitments,
Connor is working on a project that explores
young people’s thoughts on employment
opportunities and career aspirations.
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• OYA in partnership with the Department
of Business and Employment and DoH
provided free first aid workshops for
young people between the ages of 16-25
years in Darwin, Katherine, Alice Springs
and Nhulunbuy. The combined financial
contribution to the partnership amounted to
$10 000.
• OYA coordinated a $40 000 partnership
with Beyondblue: The National Depression
Initiative, to raise awareness of depression
and anxiety.
• DCF continued to support the Youth
Minister’s Round Table for Young
Territorians. The Round Table provides an
important link between young Territorians
and the Northern Territory Government.
Each year 16 members aged 15 to 25 years
are selected to represent the geographic,
cultural and ethnic diversity in the Northern
Territory.
• The Young Achiever Awards Ceremony was
held on 14 April 2012. OYA sponsored the
Minister for Young Territorians Excellence
in Youth Leadership Award category to the
value of $12 500.
SNAPSHOT

Youth NT online
The Youth NT online presence continued to
grow strongly in 2011-12. The launch of the
Google Calendar resulted in over 500 youth
related events and opportunities advertised
through this mechanism on the Youth NT
portal. The Youth NT Facebook page grew
to 300 likes with over 14 000 people seeing
the most popular post and over 2 400
subscribed to the direct email list.

PART III

• DCF continued to implement the
Northern Territory Government’s Family
Responsibility Program aimed at supporting
parental responsibility and control for
children and young people involved in
antisocial behaviour (including truancy and
offending). One hundred and twelve families
were referred to the Family Responsibility
Program in 2011-12 from six separate
agencies. This figure includes a small
percentage of self referrals and referrals
from NGOs. The referrals resulted in 88
family responsibility agreements, supporting
197 people.
• DCF funded two respectful relationships
education programs for young people –
NAPCAN’s Love BiTES which aims to grow
respect amongst high school students and
Ruby Gaea’s Sexual Assault Prevention
Education program.
SNAPSHOT

Round Table Chair awarded
2011 Top End NAIDOC
Youth of the Year
The Chair of the Youth Minister’s Round
Table for Young Territorians, Dion Dodd won
the Top End 2011 NAIDOC Youth of the
Year Award.
The award was presented at the NAIDOC
Ball, an annual event during NAIDOC week,
recognising recipients for their positive
contribution to the community. Ten awards
were handed out during the evening.
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BP3 Output 5 – Family violence and sexual assault services
2009-10
Actual

2010-11
Actual

$24.6M

$26.3M

$34.6M

$30.3M

$31.4M

N/A
N/A
1068

2 359
642
901

2 145
250
650

N/A1
2192
648

2 145
390
720

Output cost

2011-12
Estimate Actual

2012-13
Budget

Performance measure
Clients seeking shelter from violence through:
- NGO Providers
- Remote Safe Places
New sexual assault cases receiving support

1

2

Data from the 2011-12 Specialist Homelessness Services Collection that replaced the SAAP National Data Collection from 1 July 2011 is not available
until November 2012.
Women’s Safe Houses have been undergoing infrastructure upgrades to enhance the safety of both clients and staff. Due to weather and extenuating
circumstances the upgrades have taken longer than anticipated, resulting in unexpected closures affecting service delivery.

Individuals and families have support
to break the cycle of violence (DCF
Strategic Plan, Strategic Priority 4.2)
• The Northern Territory Government invested
$17.7 million in ensuring that Territorians
can access specialist services that provide
support to adults, youth and children
affected by domestic and family violence.
The $17.7 million comprised:
− $4.2 million allocated under the Family
Violence Investment Strategy;
− $5 million allocated to specialist
homelessness services to achieve
outcomes under the National Affordable
Housing Agreement (comprising $2 million
Northern Territory Government funded
and $3 million Australian Government
funded);
− $1.5 million allocated through the Northern
Territory Closing the Gap; and
− $7.07 million allocated through the
Northern Territory Emergency Response.
• The Integrated Response to Family
Violence in Alice Springs initiative, a three
year pilot to December 2014, moved closer
to being operational. The project is jointly
managed by DCF and the Department of
Justice, with each department managing
$1.24 million and $2.02 million respectively.
The pilot will develop an integrated service
response to increase the safety of women
and their children and engage a range of
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government and NGO service providers and
stakeholders including Northern Territory
Police, Aboriginal-controlled organisations,
women’s services, community legal
services, health services, counselling
services and courts. It will also support
people who use violence in their domestic/
family relationships to change their
behaviour.
• Specialist social workers and Aboriginal
staff continued to deliver hospital-based
services for victims of domestic and family
violence. Since 2010 a total of 1315 people
received services including assessment,
intervention, safety planning and referrals to
community based services.

Survivors of sexual abuse are
supported (DCF Strategic Plan,
Strategic Priority 4.4)
• DCF allocated $333 782 to the Ruby Gaea
Rape Crisis Centre (Ruby Gaea) to provide
counselling, advocacy and support to adults
and young people in the Greater Darwin
area who have been sexually assaulted.
Ruby Gaea undertook prevention activities
through community awareness and working
in schools. A further one-off $25 000 was
allocated to Ruby Gaea to develop, deliver
and evaluate a post-prison release project
for women. $220 000 was also provided
to continue the Sexual Assault Program in
Education (SAPE).

SNAPSHOT

Celebrations at Ti Tree Safe
House
As part of DCF’s promotion and celebration
of Children’s Week, the Ti Tree Safe House
celebrated in style on 27 October 2011. The
day was a great success with around 40
adults and 30 children attending, including
children from the Ti Tree and Wilora
schools.
A range of community activities were
organised which included the exterior of
some of the Safe House containers being
painted with murals, with the local police
getting involved. Other activities including
sports, bathing classes for new mothers
and their babies and children’s play room.
Reading and craft activities were also well
attended by children from the surrounding
areas.
A children’s parade and fancy dress was
also organised and all children participating
received awards and prizes.
A community lunch took place and a great
day was had by everyone.

Between July 2011 and March 2012:
− 84 per cent of the prescribed remote
communities were visited;
− 1181 episodes of case work were
provided;
− 113 community education sessions were
provided;
− 61 professional development sessions
were provided; and
− 1557 community meetings were held.
• In March 2012, the Australian Government
committed to fund MOS Plus for another
10 years.
• DCF, in partnership with the Department of
Justice (DoJ), released updated resources
pertaining to Domestic Violence Orders to
assist people in need of protection and for
defendants. The resources were made
available on the DCF and DoJ websites
with printed copies provided to courts and
community services across the Northern
Territory.

PART III

• DCF continued to support the work of the
Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARC)
that provide counselling to children and
adults who have experienced recent or past
sexual violence. A SARC oncall afterhours
response service operates in Darwin and
Alice Springs for adults and children. This
service provides a forensic medical and
counselling response and is staffed by
doctors, nurses, counsellors and Aboriginal
sexual assault workers. SARC services also
operate in Katherine and Tennant Creek.
• DCF continued to deliver the Mobile
Outreach Service Plus (MOS Plus)
initiative in partnership with the Australian
Government. MOS Plus provides services
for children and young people experiencing
trauma from all forms of abuse and
neglect in prescribed remote Aboriginal
communities, and children displaying
problem sexual and sexually abusive
behaviours.

SNAPSHOT

Sexual Assault Referral Centre
two day training
The Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC)
in Alice Springs delivered a two day training
course for workers from government and
NGOs. The training educated workers on
how to recognise and respond to sexual
assault.
SARC offers this course each year in April,
during Sexual Assault Awareness Month
and again in November to correspond with
the 16 days of violence awareness following
White Ribbon Day.
SARC staff members presented on their
areas of expertise over the two day training
course.
Participants received a presentation from
Darwin SARC’s Dr Tracy Johns on Forensic
Medical Examinations.
The 24 participants were awarded with
certificates of completion.
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Communities are engaged to reduce
sexual assault, domestic and family
violence and child abuse and neglect
(DCF Strategic Plan, Strategic Priority
5.3)
• DCF continued to increase community
awareness and understanding of mandatory
reporting of domestic and family violence
through web-based resources and the
provision of information sessions to
1287 staff from DCF, other Northern
Territory government departments and
NGOs.
• From their commencement in 2009 to
June 2012, DCF operated Women’s
Safe Houses have provided safety and
support to 973 adult female clients and
823 accompanying children. Clients and
accompanying children can expect safe and
supportive accommodation, food, referral to
other services and a safety plan for when
they leave the Women’s Safe Houses.
Women’s Safe Houses employ a total of
42 local women and 14 office based staff to
work with women and children.
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Report of the Board of Inquiry
into the Northern Territory Child
Protection System
18 April 2012 marked 18 months on from
the release of the Report of the Board of
Inquiry into the Child Protection System in the
Northern Territory 2010, Growing them strong,
together. Following on from the April 2011
release of the Northern Territory Government’s
Child Protection Reform: Progress Report,
Volume 1 which focused on progress
against the 34 urgent recommendations,

Child Protection Reform: Progress Report,
Volume 2 was released on 20 April 2012
providing a status report on progress against
all 147 recommendations.
As at 30 June 2012, of the 147 Board
of Inquiry recommendations: 40 were
completed; 107 were commenced; 0 were not
commenced.
Extensive progress and performance reports
continue to be provided to the Child Protection
External Monitoring and Reporting Committee
on a quarterly basis.
The Board of Inquiry made a number of
recommendations relating to the development
of indicators and the completion of
recommendations from previous investigations
and reports, for inclusion in DCF’s Annual
Report. Eight recommendations specifically
referred to the need to report on progress on
an annual basis.

BOI Recommendation

Summary of progress to June 2012

BOI Recommendation 2: That
the Northern Territory Government
develops a clear framework for the
inclusion of Aboriginal people in child
welfare as the basis of an Aboriginal
child safety and wellbeing plan
and that measures are developed
against each key component of the
framework with progress reported
annually.

Cultural adviser positions have been established in each
Regional Office and these staff will have oversight of
cultural care planning, and will work closely with Practice
Advisers.

BOI Recommendation 22: That
Northern Territory Families and
Children develops an indicator based
on the provision of feedback to
notifiers to be used in reporting on
performance.

Community Care Information System (CCIS) has
the indicator and is able to report against it. Reports
providing data detailing the provision of feedback to
notifiers are available.

BOI Recommendation 53:
That Northern Territory Families
and Children continues with its
implementation of recommendations
from recent Coronial Inquests and
reports on progress in its Annual
Report.

A detailed progress report on this recommendation is
available at Appendix 3.

Progress has been made on a literature review and audit
of DCF information and data relating to Aboriginal child
safety and wellbeing. Initial stakeholders were engaged
to draft a discussion paper to underpin consultations
in July 2012. DCF is working with SAF,T to define the
scope of a new research project to profile Aboriginal
children in care.

A random audit of intakes will be cross referenced to the
feedback indicator to inform business rules to provide
guidance to practitioners.
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BOI Recommendation

Summary of progress to June 2012

BOI Recommendation 54:
That Northern Territory Families
and Children continues with its
implementation of recommendations
from the High Risk Audit and reports
on progress in its Annual Report.

A detailed progress report on this recommendation is
available at Appendix 4.

BOI Recommendation 55: That
Northern Territory Families and
Children continues to support and
influence the introduction and
implementation of the National
Standards for Out of Home Care and
reports progress in its Annual Report.

A detailed progress report on this recommendation is
available at Appendix 5.

BOI Recommendation 59: That
Northern Territory Families and
Children collects a range of care
provider data as outlined in this
Report and annually reports on
progress towards “closing the
gap” in standards of care provided
for relative and non-relative care
providers.

DFC is committed to the National in Out-of-Home Care
Standard.
DCF has established a Kinship Unit in recognition of
the need to build the numbers of relative and kinship
carers. DCF has piloted the Winangay assessment tool
for Kinship carers and continues to develop a culturally
appropriate relative and kinship assessment tool specific
to the cultural needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islanders.
An across government approach is required to address
the strategic response towards “closing the gap” in
standards of care as described in the Board of Inquiry.

BOI Recommendation 110:
That Northern Territory Families
and Children annually reports on
compliance with sections 70, 71, 73,
74 and 76 of the Care and Protection
of Children Act with respect to care
plans.

DCF is addressing the necessary policy development
of care plan structure and content that will enable
practitioners to quickly and easily produce plans along
with the reporting of care plans through Community
Care Information System (CCIS). A formal program of
reporting will be implemented through the DCF annual
report once CCIS has been modified.

BOI Recommendation 135: That
Northern Territory Families and
Children develops Key Performance
Indicators to demonstrate the goals
of Aboriginal workforce planning, with
annual reporting on achievements.

This recommendation is being progressed as part of
DCF’s Strategic Workforce Planning project.
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In 2010-11 DCF consulted with 135 Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander staff regarding their workforce planning
needs and the key workforce issues impacting on them.
An action plan is being developed to address the key
priorities and recommendations from the Forum.
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In accordance with the Northern Territory
All Hazards Emergency Management
Arrangements, established under the
Northern Territory Disasters Act 2008, DCF
is responsible for the leadership of welfare
recovery responses across the Northern
Territory after a disaster or emergency event.
To build capacity as a new agency and to
deliver welfare recovery services which are
valued by disaster affected communities, DCF
draws on the expertise and support of other
government agencies and NGO partners.
Depending on the nature and scale of the
event, welfare recovery responses can include:
• conducting needs assessments of
individuals and families affected by disaster
events;
• providing emergency support including
food, shelter, clothing and personal support;
and
• administration of emergency financial
assistance.

• flooding and severe weather during
Tropical Cyclone Grant in December 2011/
January 2012. Assistance included personal
hardship and replacement of household
and personal goods payments in relation
to: flooding at Edith River; preparations for
the Marrara homeless shelter; the proposed
Daly River evacuation centre at Foskey
Pavilion (total cost $79 461); and
• flooding from the Top End tropical low in
March 2012. Assistance included personal
hardship and replacement of household
and personal goods payments for residents
affected by floods in Palumpa (total cost
$26 326).

DCF delivers these services through various
channels, including emergency evacuation
shelters, recovery centres, outreach services
and telephone assistance lines.
In 2011-12, DCF provided welfare recovery
assistance in response to a number of natural
disasters, including:
• the Central Australian bushfires in
September/October 2011. Assistance
included food, accommodation and
transport from the affected area. Transport
arrangements included a bus and plane
charter to move Ukaka community members
to Alice Springs (total cost $6 286);
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Charles Darwin University and
Northern Territory Government
Partnership Agreement 2007-12
Charles Darwin University (CDU) and the
Northern Territory Government are committed
to the development of CDU as a thriving
teaching and research institution that supports
the economic, social and environmental
development of the Northern Territory.
Realising this commitment will go towards
achieving sustainable outcomes for the
Northern Territory.
The outcomes sought from the CDU/Northern
Territory Government Partnership Agreement
2007-12 include:
• a critical mass of university enrolments,
resident teaching and research staff, and
funding applications to build the capacity of
CDU and enhance CDU’s role as a cultural
and intellectual leader in the local and
global community;
• courses relevant to both industry and
Northern Territory Government needs
that address the concerns of the Northern
Territory broad small to medium enterprise
sector, recognise skill shortages, and the
identified needs of Aboriginal communities;
• research programs in niche areas that
serve to maximise the Northern Territory’s
natural comparative advantages, raise the
university’s research profile in the national
and international arena, and meet the
Northern Territory industry and community
needs;
• vocational education and training (VET) and
higher education sectors that: are relevant
and appropriate to industry needs; seek to
achieve real employment outcomes; offer
a range of suitable courses; and provide
seamless pathways for learning-including
practical options to move between industry,
secondary education, VET and higher
education sectors; and
• a thriving and engaged Aboriginal
population that achieves success in
relevant education, employment and
training programs which are clearly linked to
economic and social outcomes.
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Under this agreement, Northern Territory
Government departments are involved in
joint projects with CDU (more information
on the CDU/Northern Territory Government
Partnership Agreement 2007-12 can be found
at http://www.cdu.edu.au/government/index.
html).
The table below outlines CDU and DCF joint
projects under the CDU/Northern Territory
Government Partnership Agreement
2007-12, including how the projects have or
are contributing to DCF objectives.
In the coming year, DCF will continue to work
closely with CDU under the new CDU/Northern
Territory Government Partnership Agreement
2012-17. The new agreement builds on the
previous partnership agreement and includes
a key focus on growing the Territory’s capacity
in areas such as research, evaluation,
education and training, as well as a skilled
local workforce in key areas that will benefit
the Northern Territory overall.
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• sharing human and intellectual capital.

• improvement of student and graduate
outcomes through curriculum
collaboration; and

• provision of scholarships and
placement of students;

• employment of eligible graduates;

To formalise agreement for the:

Project description:

• DCF staff delivered lectures to CDU
students providing an insight in to the
key issues real and current issues in
the Northern Territory.

− qualified DCF staff providing child
protection and domestic violence
lectures to social work students.

− employment opportunities in DCF for
eligible locally educated social work
students; and

− establishment of a student placement
unit;

• Recruiting and supporting staff.

• The MOU forms the basis for DCF and
CDU working towards the following
objectives:

2012-2016 Memorandum of
Understanding, Charles Darwin
University and Department of
Children and Families

• Working with partner organisations to
achieve the best possible outcomes for
children and families.

• Memorandum of Understanding
2012-15 signed by DCF and CDU in
January 2012.

Establish Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU):

PART III

• Creating a professional and high
performance culture.

DCF objectives

• A critical mass of university enrolments,
resident teaching and research staff,
and funding applications to build the
capacity of CDU and enhance CDU’s
role as a cultural and intellectual leader
in the local and global community.

• Courses relevant to both industry and
Northern Territory Government needs
that, among other things, seek to
address the concerns of the Northern
Territory’s broad small to medium
enterprise sector, recognised skill
shortages and the identified needs of
Indigenous community.

• Vocational education and training
(VET) and higher education sectors
that are relevant and appropriate to
industry needs, seek to achieve real
employment outcomes, offer a range of
suitable courses, and provide seamless
pathways for learning, including
practical options to move between
industry, secondary education, VET
and higher education sectors.

CDU/NTG Partnership
Agreement

How the project has/is contributing to:

Progress to June 2012

Project

CDU/DCF projects under the CDU/Northern Territory Government Partnership Agreement 2007-12
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Undertake a range of Child Protection
research projects over the period
July 2008-June 2012.
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− a resource package delivered
by Menzies for the professional
development of DCF staff and other
key stakeholders in evaluation
research skills.

− completion of the pilot phase of the
Let’s Start Early program; and

− examining drivers of reported child
abuse and neglect in the Northern
Territory and outcomes of families
and children involved with child
protection services in the Northern
Territory;

− implementation support and data
decision-making support through
analysis of systems and program
data for the Intensive Family Support
Program;

− submission of four Interim Reports
to the Advisory Group from Stage
2 of the evaluation of Family Group
Conferencing in Alice Springs;

− publication of two papers in peer
reviewed journals regarding
evaluation of the Mobile Child
Protection Team;

• 2011‑12 achievements included:

• The Child Protection Research
Program Service Agreement with
Menzies School of Health Research
concluded June 2012.

Child Protection Research Program
Service Agreement

Project description:

Progress to June 2012

Project

• Working with partner organisations to
achieve the best possible outcomes for
children and families.

DCF objectives
• Research programs in niche areas
that serve to maximise the Northern
Territory’s natural comparative
advantages, raise the University’s
research profile in the national and
international arena, and provide
relevancy to the Northern Territory’s
industry and community needs.

CDU/NTG Partnership
Agreement

How the project has/is contributing to:

CDU/DCF projects under the CDU/Northern Territory Government Partnership Agreement 2007-12
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Applications are open from late
September each year and close in March
of the following year.

The Chief Minister’s Scholarships for
Women comprise three scholarships,
administered by CDU on behalf of OWP.

Support disadvantaged Northern Territory
women to gain their first qualification in
their chosen field. The program aims to
increase women’s long term financial and
economic security through education and
training, which in turn aims to increase
the Northern Territory’s skills base.

Project description:

Chief Minister’s Scholarships for
Women

To establish a Centre for Child
Development and Education in the
Northern Territory under a joint
partnership between the Northern Territory
Government, CDU and Menzies.

− Two awards of $2 000 each were
awarded to two VET students.

− One award of $15 000 plus $1 200
towards a laptop computer was
awarded to one Higher Education
student; and

• The three successful recipients were
announced in May 2012:

• The Centre for Child Development and
Education was officially opened by the
Chief Minister in September 2011.

• DCF worked closely with the
Department of Health, Department
of Education and Training, CDU and
Menzies to define the scope and
processes involved in establishing
the Centre for Child Development and
Education.

Centre for Child Development and
Education

Project description:

Progress to June 2012

Project

PART III

• Women have advanced political,
economic, social, cultural and civil
status in the Northern Territory.

• Working with partner organisations to
achieve the best possible outcomes for
children and families.

DCF objectives

• A thriving and engaged Indigenous
population that achieves success in
relevant education, and employment
and training programs which are
clearly linked to economic and social
outcomes.

• VET and higher education sectors
that are relevant and appropriate to
industry needs, seek to achieve real
employment outcomes, offer a range of
suitable courses, and provide seamless
pathways for learning, including
practical options to move between
industry, secondary education, VET
and higher education sectors.

• Research programs in niche areas
that serve to maximise the Northern
Territory’s natural comparative
advantages, raise the University’s
research profile in the national and
international arena, and provide
relevancy to the Northern Territory’s
industry and community needs.

• A thriving and engaged Indigenous
population that achieves success
in relevant education, employment
and training programs which are
clearly linked to economic and social
outcomes.

CDU/NTG Partnership
Agreement

How the project has/is contributing to:

CDU/DCF projects under the CDU/Northern Territory Government Partnership Agreement 2007-12
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National committees,
strategies and agreements

National Partnership Agreements

In 2011-12, DCF participated and supported
its Ministers on a number of national Council
of Australian Government (COAG) related
councils and committees.

Three core targets have been agreed under
the National Partnership Agreement on
Homelessness:
• A seven per cent reduction in the number
of Australians who are experiencing
homelessness (a reduction of 335 people for
the Northern Territory);
• A one third reduction in the number of
Aboriginal Australians who are homeless
(a reduction of 550 people for the Northern
Territory); and
• A 25 per cent reduction in the number of
Australians sleeping rough (a reduction of
297 for the Territory).

COAG standing council on community
and disability services
The Standing Council on Community and
Disability Services (SCCDS) is comprised
of Ministers with community and disability
services responsibilities from around Australia.
SCCDS covers a range of issues including
child protection, disability, carers, seniors,
concessions, disaster recovery and community
services.
This Council is supported by the Standing
Council on Community, Disability Services
Advisory Council (SCCDSAC), comprised of
the relevant chief executives from Australian,
state and territory government departments.
Meetings are held three times a year and joint
meetings with the Housing Ministers’ Advisory
Committee have commenced.
A key role for SCCDS is oversight of the
implementation of the first three year action
plan (2009-2012) for the National Framework
for Protecting Australia’s Children and the
development and implementation of the second
three year action plan (2012-15).

COAG select council on women’s issues
The Select Council on Women’s Issues
(SCWI), comprised of Ministers with
responsibilities in women’s issues around
Australia, provides a forum for considering
gender equality issues.
SCWI is supported by the Senior Women’s
Officials Group, made up of senior officers
from relevant Australian and state and territory
government departments.
Key areas of focus for SCWI include
progressing the National Plan to Prevent
Violence against Women and their Children,
and promoting the leadership of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander women in governance
and decision-making in communities and
organisations.
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National Partnership Agreement on
Homelessness 2009-13

There are 22 initiatives under the Northern
Territory Homelessness Implementation Plan
being delivered by DCF, the Departments of
Housing Local Government and Regional
Services, Health and Justice. DCF has
responsibility for 12 initiatives under the Plan.
Initiatives include a Transitional Housing
Unit for women and children run by Darwin
Aboriginal and Islander Women’s Shelter,
a medium term supported accommodation
service for young people in Palmerston and
a youth crisis accommodation service in
Katherine, both run by Anglicare NT.
Closing the gap in the Northern Territory
National Partnership Agreement 2009-12
Closing the Gap in the Northern Territory
National Partnership Agreement aims to
enhance services to Aboriginal communities
in the Territory regarding the protection of
vulnerable children, provision of law and order,
and delivery of quality education and health
services. Under the National Partnership
Agreement, DCF continued to deliver the
Family Support Package including Safe
Houses, Mobile Outreach Services, the Remote
Aboriginal Family and Community Worker
Program, and Mobile Child Protection Team.
Working in partnership with the Australian
government has further enhanced the level of
services available to Territorians, particularly
those who live in remote areas.

PART IV
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Overview
With the department still in its establishment
stage during 2011-12, focus was on
establishing corporate systems and
structures to meet departmental objectives
and employment instructions issued by
the Commissioner for Public Employment.
Employment instructions are rules that cover
important human resource matters. Under the
Public Sector Employment and Management
Act, all agencies are required to report
against the employment instructions. These
requirements have been addressed within this
section.

•

Performance against DCF
organisational enablers

•

The department’s strategic plan includes key
organisational enablers that will help achieve
the department’s goals as set out under the
strategic plan. The four organisational enablers
are:
• collaborate with partner organisations;
• recruit and support staff;
• create a professional and high performance
culture; and
• respond to diversity, gender and cultural
differences.

•

•

DCF strategic plan organisational
enabler A – collaborate with
partner organisations
A.1: The staff and leaders of partner
organisations are supported
A.2: The department works with partner
organisations to achieve the best
possible outcomes for children
and families

Key achievements 2011-12
• As part of its commitment to support its
NGO partners, DCF sponsored 10 NGO
staff to undertake the Diploma of Child
Youth and Family Intervention and one
NGO staff member to undertake the
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•

•

Graduate Certificate in Remote Health
Practice (Child Protection).
DCF convened three NGO Partnership
Forums involving representatives from peak
organisations and key NGOs. The forums
provide a mechanism for collaboration
and engagement between DCF’s Chief
Executive and the NGO sector.
DCF partnered with NAPCAN to deliver
community-based training in relation
to mandatory reporting and the new
information sharing legislation. This training
is offered on a quarterly basis and targets
NGO and sector partners across the
Northern Territory.
DCF established a Memorandum of
Understanding with Charles Darwin
University which has resulted in: DCF staff
providing child protection and domestic
and family violence lectures to social
work students; the establishment of a
student placement unit; and employment
opportunities and scholarships within DCF
for local graduates.
DCF provided training and support
to around 200 NGO staff from 66
organisations on the new Specialist
Homelessness Services Collection (SHSC).
In response to NGO feedback during the
initial training sessions, DCF enhanced
the SHSC training by offering one-onone training, on-site training, and training
tailored to meet the individual needs of
agencies. DCF also undertook open training
sessions in Darwin, Alice Springs, Katherine
and Tennant Creek. Providing this training
and support improves homelessness data
collection and builds a better evidence
base.
DCF funded an Northern Territory wide
domestic and family violence forum,
convened by the Alice Springs Women’s
Shelter in May 2012.
DCF contributed to the development
of draft Regional Homelessness Action
Plans in partnership with NT Shelter, the
Department of Housing, Local Government
and Regional Services and the community
services sectors in Darwin, Katherine,
Tennant Creek and Alice Springs. Plans are
expected to be formally launched later in
2012.

B.1: Recruit skilled, qualified and 		
experienced staff
B.2: Recruit and develop Aboriginal staff
and provide career pathways
B.3: Staff and managers are supported to
achieve their potential

Key achievements 2011-12
• DCF conducted a recruitment campaign
in the United Kingdom, with 34 highly
experienced child protection professionals,
scheduled to join the workforce in 2012-13.
• Through the Remote Area Rotation
Initiative (RARI), a national initiative
involving collaboration of state and territory
government’s, two experienced interstate
child protection practitioners commenced
placements in Alice Springs and Katherine.
These officers are supported to undertake
the Graduate Certificate in Remote Health
Practice (Child Protection) to further build
capacity in remote child protection.
• 598 DCF staff attended 54 core and
specialist training programs delivered
across the Northern Territory; 36 staff
have completed and 99 staff (68 per
cent Aboriginal) are currently enrolled in
nationally accredited training courses.
• Under the DCF and DoH shared services
agreement, a one day orientation program
is provided for all new staff who commence
with DCF. This is a multi-disciplinary
orientation program covering mandated
training, compliance requirements and other
relevant information that will enable new
employees to effectively contribute to DCF’s
business objectives. Training includes
Aboriginal cultural security, work health
safety, fire and emergency responses,
manual handling, aggression minimisation,
mandatory reporting of child abuse and
neglect and domestic violence, and the
Northern Territory Public Service Code of
Conduct. The code of conduct is made
available on DCF’s website for all staff to
access.

• Training delivered in 2011-12 included:
− a tailored two week training program for
Central Intake staff;
− the delivery of a suite of tailored training
including: appropriate workplace
behaviour training mandated for all staff
and managers; DCF wide training in
supervision; court and legal training;
structured decision making training;
training in the new information sharing
legislation; and therapeutic crisis
intervention training for staff working in
Youth Safe Places;
− Diploma in Management, with three staff
completing this qualification in 2011-12;
− Future Leadership Development
Programs delivered through the Office of
the Commissioner for Public Employment;
and
− tailored two-day training for Women’s Safe
House workers on client intake processes
and safety planning for women escaping
family violence.
• Graduate Certificates in Remote Health
(Child Protection Practice), with nine staff
graduating in 2011-12 including three
Aboriginal staff. This qualification allows
graduates to translate their knowledge
into the workplace and pursue ongoing
professional development. It is not offered
anywhere else in Australia and focuses on
regional child protection.
• As at 30 June 2012, 136 of DCF staff (or
16 per cent of total DCF staff) self-identified
as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander (an
increase of 33 per cent at the same time
last year):
− DCF recruited an Aboriginal Professional
Development Coordinator and an
Aboriginal Professional Development
Facilitator whose responsibilities
include promoting culturally appropriate
content and delivery in relation to
training programs. Twenty Aboriginal
staff members enrolled in the Diploma
of Child, Youth and Family Intervention
qualification. Another five Aboriginal staff
members completed this qualification;
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enabler B – recruit and support
staff
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− three Aboriginal staff members enrolled
in the Certificate IV in Training and
Assessment qualification;
− forty-four Aboriginal staff members
enrolled in the Certificate III in Community
Services qualification;
− two Aboriginal staff members graduated
with a Diploma in Community Services;
− three Aboriginal staff members graduated
with a Graduate Certificate in Remote
Health Practice (Child Protection);
− DCF increased the number of positions
available for Aboriginal Employment
Program participants from five to 10
permanent administrative officer level two
positions; and
− Ntaria Women’s Safe House workers were
supported to attend the Family Wellbeing
course delivered by the Batchelor Institute
of Aboriginal Teacher Education in
partnership with Tangentyere Council in
Alice Springs.
• Other initiatives progressed in 2011-12
included:
− establishment of an e-learning centre
and training portal to provide staff with a
range of training opportunities, delivered
whenever and wherever required;
− funding to the Australian Childhood
Foundation to develop the curriculum for
two Vocational Graduate Certificates in
Community Services Practice;
− development of a research qualification
in partnership with CDU (Masters by
Research in Child Protection) which is
expected to be available from 2012-13;
− in response to the national shortage
of child protection workers, DCF
implemented the Learning Pathways
Program (LLP) to grow and retain its
own professional workforce. The LPP
establishes a system of qualification
pathways to support workers to progress
to higher positions, or shift to new
positions according to their ongoing
professional development needs, for
example administrative to professional
stream;
− development of a draft strategic workforce
plan, incorporating Aboriginal and Torres
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Strait islander workforce development
strategies. Consultation on the draft plan
will occur in the latter half of 2012;
− a training needs analysis was also
completed to inform the development
of timely orientation, induction and
advanced practice processes. This has
resulted in courses that are specifically
contextualised to the Northern Territory
and DCF operating environment,
including: the Diploma of Child Youth
and Family Intervention; Certificate IV in
Youth Work; Certificate IV in Training and
Assessment; and Graduate Certificate in
Remote Health Practice (Child Protection);
and
− DCF also established a Regional Learning
Network to enable the development of
partnerships between the DCF’s Learning
and Development Division and the three
Regions, Territory Wide Services and
the non care and protection units of the
department.

DCF strategic plan organisational
enabler C – create a professional
and high performance culture

C.1: Staff and managers take 		
responsibility and are held 		
accountable for their work
C.2: Staff are committed to the vision and
strategic priorities of the department
C.3: Staff make informed decisions with
the best available information
C.4: The department uses best		
practice models of governance and
risk management
C.5: The department has a climate of
openness and learning

Key achievements 2011-12
• DCF has a performance management
framework in place to assist managers
and staff to identify performance targets,
monitor and manage any training and
development requirements relating to
effective performance. The performance

− the Work Partnership Plan (WPP) is the
document that facilitates performance
management within DCF;
− the WPP is further supported in DCF
by a Supervision Framework. The DCF
Supervision Framework was launched
in August 2011 and consists of: a
supervision policy; supervision guidelines;
and supervision tools;
− supervision in DCF is an active process
in which two or more people work with
one another to review professional
work practices, with a view to assisting
professional and personal resilience. The
goals of supervision are to encourage
learning and provide support through
professionally competent and accountable
practices; and
− work partnership plans, supervision
agreements and the record of supervision
are central to the supervision framework.
It provides for supervision of all
employees on a regular basis. Other
forms of supervision including on-therun, peer and group supervision, and
mentoring and coaching are also integral
to the supervision framework.

• DCF’s corporate governance committees
continued to operate effectively throughout
the year in addressing and managing risks.
• DCF established the Practice Integrity
and Complaints Management Branch
(PICM) focused on improving practice and
standards across the department.
• DCF’s Strategic Plan 2012-15 was
developed with input from key stakeholders
and staff members, ensuring commitment
to the vision and strategic priorities of the
department.
• DCF launched its own intranet site for use
by staff.
• DCF’s Chief Executive implemented the
Ask the CE forum as part of the CE’s online
weekly newsletter. The forum provides
staff with the opportunity to raise issues of
concern or to put forward suggestions that
could improve how DCF does its work.
• DCF commissioned an independent
survey of all staff in November 2011. The
results are informing workforce retention
strategies, strategic workforce planning and
will be used as the benchmark for regular
reassessments of staff morale.
• DCF held its first Managers Conference to
connect managers to the strategic vision for
the agency, and empower managers to lead
and manage their staff.

SNAPSHOT

People Survey
In 2011, DCF engaged the services of KPMG to undertake a People Survey, focusing on staff
experience and perception of levels of care and support of workers, workplace conditions,
treatment of staff and workplace culture.
The tool developed for the Survey consisted of 70 questions and was designed to measure
the views of staff on job satisfaction, professional support, levels of pride, commitment and
organisational climate. Respondents were also invited to report on optimism and resilience and
were able to offer suggestions on how DCF can better support its workforce.
The Survey was conducted in November 2011 resulting in an outstanding response
rate of 82 per cent with 547 responses recorded from a total of 667 DCF staff. Five key
themes proved to be the focus of the results, including managing and communicating change,
recruitment and promotion, staff induction and orientation, raising issues and grievances and
recognition of good work. A Fact Sheet of the Staff Survey has been prepared and can be
accessed online for further information at: http://childrenandfamilies.nt.gov.au/library/scripts/
objectifyMedia.aspx?file=pdf/74/29.pdf&siteID=5&str_title=People Survey - Fact Sheet.pdf.
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management framework includes a
probation process for newly appointed
permanent employees and includes
following elements:
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DCF strategic plan organisational
enabler D – respond to diversity,
gender and cultural differences

− advocates, promotes and support the
recruitment, retention and professional
development of Aboriginal DCF staff;
− facilitates the inclusion of Aboriginal
perspectives when divisions undertake
strategic policy and program development;

D.1: The department and partner 		
organisations respond to the needs
of Aboriginal children, families and
communities
D.2: Services respond to diversity and are
sensitive to culture and gender
D.3: Aboriginal staff continue to contribute
to key decision making

− promotes innovative and culturally
responsive strategies to ensure
community wellbeing, community
development and capacity building;
− works towards increasing and supporting
accountability (direct and indirect) through
best-practice approaches; and

Key achievements 2011-12
• DCF aims to have a workforce that is as
diverse and representative of its client
base. DCF does this through employment
campaigns, job advertising and by having
an increased focus on the development of
pathways to enable greater employment
avenues for our current and future
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff.
All selection decisions are based on the
merit principle.
Equal
Employment
Opportunity
Group

% of the
workforce

Number
of people

Aboriginal and/
or Torres Strait
Islander(s)

16%

136

People from
Non-English
Speaking
backgrounds

12%

106

People with a
Disability

1%

1

• DCF’s Executive Leadership Group
endorsed the establishment of a DCF
Aboriginal policy unit as the Aboriginal
Collaboration, Engagement and Strategy
(ACES) Unit. The ACES Unit:
− provides DCF-wide leadership and
strategic advice specific to Aboriginal
children, families and communities;
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•

•

•

•

− empowers Aboriginal people and
communities through regular and
meaningful community engagement and
partnerships.
The department’s Aboriginal Advisory
Committee exists as another mechanism
for Aboriginal staff to contribute towards
key decision making. During 2011-12, the
Aboriginal Advisory Committee played a
major role in the establishment of the new
ACES Unit.
DCF continued to offer Aboriginal cultural
awareness training to all staff, particularly
those working with Aboriginal people.
The program provides staff with the
skills, knowledge and attitudes required
to work effectively with Aboriginal clients.
Participants gain an introduction to
Aboriginal culture and society, the concept
of Aboriginal well-being and communication
and kinship systems.
Training in appropriate workplace
behaviours has been mandated for all DCF
staff. Twenty sessions have been delivered
across the Territory. Training sessions are
scheduled to continue in 2012-13.
A trial of an online competency based
training in Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Cultural Competence Course is
underway.

The safety and wellbeing of staff, contractors,
suppliers, clients and visitors is a priority for
DCF. As part of the DCF and DoH shared
services arrangement, a range of training
is provided to DCF staff during orientation
focused on safety, including manual handling
and emergency response along with a range
of awareness programs offered on an adhoc
basis.
In relation to workers compensation incidents
and claims in the 2011-12 financial year, DCF
reduced its workers compensation costs by
approximately $82 000.
In 2011-12, DCF received nine claims from 36
reported incidents with a total cost to date of
just under $523 000.
In the same period last year, DCF received 12
claims from 30 reported incidents, costing a
total of just under $605 000.

Human resource services
In 2011-12, DCF maintained a shared model
of human resource (HR) services with DoH.
The HR Services Unit provides a consultancy
service to managers and staff on best practice
HR management. The HR Unit provides
advice and guidance to managers and staff
on employment related matters in accordance
with the Public Sector Employment and
Management Act, the Northern Territory Public
Sector 2010-13 Enterprise Agreement and the
Australian Government’s Fair Work Act and to
provide case management services.
During 2011-12, the HR Services Unit
managed 25 formal cases.
Given the number of formal HR case
management activities undertaken during the
year, and acknowledging the change agenda
of the agency, a specific appropriate workplace
behaviours program was developed by DCF.
PART IV

Workplace health and
safety

A greater focus has been given to workplace
health and safety this year driven by the
introduction of the harmonisation of the
Workplace Health and Safety legislation
in the Northern Territory effective from
1 January 2012.
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Complaints

Employment records

DCF continues its commitment to a policy
of zero tolerance of aggression against
employees through the implementation of
aggression management plans tailored to
individual divisions.

The Department of Business and Employment,
under the shared service arrangement,
maintains personnel employment records on
behalf of DCF.

Aggression management sessions are
delivered on behalf of DCF under the shared
corporate services arrangements by DoH.
Aggression management sessions are
delivered during all Top End and Central
Australia mandatory orientation training day
programs.
DoH’s Workplace Health and Safety Unit
has increased management of aggressive
behaviour education programs accessible
by staff. Worksite specific aggression
management programs are also conducted on
request.
DCF has commenced a number of actions that
address some of the issues identified in the
recent staff morale survey including:
• roll out of the Supervision Framework and
training for all staff;
• promotion of the recruitment and selection
training/workshops for managers across
DCF;
• finalisation and communication of DCF’s
Strategic Plan and Strategic Workforce
Plan; and
• mandatory training on inappropriate
behaviour.
DCF received seven formal complaints of
bullying and harassment from 1 July 2011 to
30 June 2012 for investigation. Of the seven,
six were resolved and one remained open and
will be addressed in 2012-13.

60

DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

DCF currently uses the Tower Records
Information Management system to manage
and maintain other corporate records.

PART IV

PART V

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PART V – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Certification of the financial statements
We certify that the attached financial statements for the Department of Children and Families have
been prepared from proper accounts and records in accordance with the prescribed format, the
Financial Management Act and Treasurer’s Directions.
We further state that the information set out in the Comprehensive Operating Statement, Balance
Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement, and notes to and forming part of the
financial statements, presents fairly the financial performance and cash flows for the year ended
30 June 2012 and the financial position on that date.
At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

_____________________________________

_____________________________________

Clare Gardiner-Barnes
			
Chief Executive
				
30 August 2012
					

Cameron Wilson
Chief Finance Officer
30 August 2012
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Comprehensive operating statement
For the year ended 30 June 2012
Note

2012

2011

$000

$000

12,919

8,492

138,359

113,475

24,376

16,523

112

346

5,087

3,066

INCOME
Taxation revenue
Grants and subsidies revenue
Appropriation
Output
Commonwealth
Sales of goods and services
Interest revenue
Goods and services received free of charge

4

Gain on disposal of assets

5

15

0

387

193

181,255

142,095

72,602

55,219

24,938

23,343

185

0

2,093

2,406

550

405

5,087

3,555

Current

76,358

61,638

Capital

0

2

Other income
TOTAL INCOME

3

EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Administrative expenses
Purchases of goods and services

6

Repairs and maintenance
Property Maintenance
Depreciation and amortisation
Other administrative expenses

9
1

TOTAL EXPENSES

181,813

146,568

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

(558)

(4,473)

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT

(558)

(4,473)

1

3

Includes DBE service charges.

The Comprehensive Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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PART V

Grants and subsidies expenses

PART V – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Balance sheet
As at 30 June 2012
Note

2012

2011

$000

$000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and deposits

7

16,782

14,847

Receivables

8

502

147

Prepayments
Total Current Assets

23

55

17,307

15,049

7,455

3,607

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment

9

Heritage and cultural assets

10

5

5

7,460

3,612

24,767

18,661

(7,058)

Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables

11

(7,333)

Provisions

12

(6,654)

(5,175)

(13,987)

(12,233)

(1,984)

(1,507)

(1,984)

(1,507)

(15,971)

(13,740)

8,796

4,921

Capital

13,827

9,394

Accumulated funds

(5,031)

(4,473)

8,796

4,921

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

12

NET ASSETS
EQUITY

TOTAL EQUITY

The Balance Sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2012
Note

Equity at
1 July

Comprehensive
result

Transactions
with owners in
their
capacity as
owners

Equity at
30 June

$000

$000

$000

$000

(4,473)

(558)

0

(5,031)

(4,473)

(558)

0

(5,031)

2011-12
Accumulated Funds (1)

Capital – Transactions with Owners

9,394

9,394

Equity injections
Equity transfers in

4,441

4,441

Equity withdrawals
Equity transfers out
9,394
Total Equity at End of Financial Year

(7)

(7)

4,434

13,827

4,921

(558)

4,434

8,796

0

(4,473)

0

(4,473)

0

(4,473)

0

(4,473)

3,957

3,957

13,710

13,710

(8,272)

(8,272)

9,394

9,394

9,394

4,921

Accumulated Funds

Capital – Transactions with Owners
Equity injections
Equity transfers in
Other equity injections
Equity withdrawals
Capital withdrawal (a)
0
Total Equity at End of Financial Year

(1)

0

(4,473)

Net Surplus/(Deficit) from the Comprehensive Operating Statement. (a) Use for cash distributions to Government.

The Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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PART V – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Cash flow statement
For the year ended 30 June 2012
Note

2012

2011

$000

$000

12,919

8,492

138,359

113,475

24,376

16,523

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Receipts
Grants and subsidies received
Current
Appropriation
Output
Commonwealth
Receipts from sales of goods and services

6,599

2,687

182,253

141,177

Payments to employees

69,910

47,353

Payments for goods and services

34,164

22,823

Current

76,258

61,528

Capital

0

2

Total Operating Receipts
Operating Payments

Grants and subsidies paid

Total Operating Payments

180,332

131,706

13

1,921

9,471

5

15

0

15

0

Purchases of assets

0

61

Total Investing Payments

0

61

15

(61)

Net Cash From/(Used in) Operating Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing Receipts
Proceeds from asset sales
Total Investing Receipts
Investing Payments

Net Cash From/(Used in) Investing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing Receipts
Other equity injections

0

13,710

Total Financing Receipts

0

13,710

Equity withdrawals

0

8,272

Total Financing Payments

0

8,272

Net Cash From/(Used in) Financing Activities

0

5,437

Financing Payments
Repayment of borrowings

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at beginning of financial year
CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR

7

1,936

14,847

14,847

0

16,782

14,847

The Cash Flow Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2012
1.

Objectives and funding

2.

Statement of significant accounting policies

3.

Comprehensive operating statement by output group
Income

4.

Goods and services received free of charge

5.

Gain on disposal of assets
Expenses

6.

Purchases of goods and services
Assets

7.

Cash and deposits

8.

Receivables

9.

Property, plant and equipment

10.

Heritage and cultural assets
Liabilities

11.

Payables

12.

Provisions
Other disclosures
Notes to the cash flow statement

14.

Financial instruments

15.

Commitments

16.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

17.

Events subsequent to balance date

18.

Write-offs, postponements, waivers, gifts and ex gratia payments

PART V

13.
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1.

Objectives and funding

The Northern Territory Government is
continuing to improve services and deliver
new initiatives to support families and children
across the Northern Territory.
The Department is predominantly funded
by, and is dependent on, the receipt of
Parliamentary appropriations. The financial
statements encompass all funds through which
the agency controls resources to carry on its
functions and deliver outputs. For reporting
purposes, there is one output group (with
five outputs) delivered by the Department of
Children and Families.
2.

Statement of significant accounting
policies

a) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of
the Financial Management Act and related
Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial
Management Act requires the Department
of Children and Families to prepare financial
statements for the year ended 30 June based
on the form determined by the Treasurer.
The form of agency financial statements is to
include:
(i) a Certification of the Financial Statements;
(ii) a Comprehensive Operating Statement;
(iii) a Balance Sheet;
(iv) a Statement of Changes in Equity;
(v) a Cash Flow Statement; and
(vi) applicable explanatory notes to the
financial statements.
The financial statements have been prepared
using the accrual basis of accounting, which
recognises the effect of financial transactions
and events when they occur, rather than when
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cash is paid out or received. As part of the
preparation of the financial statements, all
intra-agency transactions and balances have
been eliminated.
Except where stated, the financial statements
have also been prepared in accordance with
the historical cost convention.
The form of the agency financial statements
is also consistent with the requirements of
Australian Accounting Standards. The effects
of all relevant new and revised Standards
and Interpretations issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are
effective for the current annual reporting period
have been evaluated. The Standards and
Interpretations and their impacts are:
AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards arising
from the Annual Improvements Project
[AASB 1, 7, 101 & 134 and Interpretation 13]
The Standard amends a number of
pronouncements as a result of the IASB’s
2008-10 cycle of annual improvements. Key
amendments include clarification of content
of statement of changes in equity (AASB 101)
and financial instrument disclosures
(AASB 7). The Standard does not impact the
financial statements.
AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101,
107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137,
139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations
112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042]
The Standard makes numerous editorial
amendments to a range of Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations,
including amendments to reflect changes
made to the text of IFRSs by the IASB.
The Standard does not impact the financial
statements.

Summary

Effective for annual
reporting periods
beginning on or after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
(Dec 2010), AASB 2010-7
Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 9 (Dec 2010) [AASB 1, 3,
4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118,
120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132,
136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and
Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 &
127]

AASB 9 incorporates revised
requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial
instruments resulting from the
IASB’s project to replace IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement (AASB 139
Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement).

1 Jan 2013

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement,
AASB 2011-8 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2,
3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 20107, 101,
102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119,
120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134,
136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023
& 1038 and Interpretations 2, 4, 12,
13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]

Replaces the guidance on fair value
measurement in existing AASB
accounting literature with a single
standard. The Standard defines
fair value, provides guidance on
how to determine fair value and
requires disclosures about fair value
measurements.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
arising from the Consolidation and
Joint Arrangements standards
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 101,
107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133,
136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and
Interpretations 5, 9, 16 & 17]

Makes consequential amendments
to a range of Standards and
Interpretations in light of the
issuance of AASB 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements and AASB 12
Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
– Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income [AASB 1,
5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133,
134, 1039 & 1049]

Requires entities to group items
presented in other comprehensive
income on the basis of whether they
are potentially reclassifiable to profit
or loss subsequently.

1 July 2012

Impact on financial
statements

b) Agency and Territory items

d) Presentation and rounding of amounts

The financial statements of Department
of Children and Families include income,
expenses, assets, liabilities and equity over
which the Department of Children and Families
has control (Agency items). As at
30 June 2012 the Department of Children
and Families did not manage any items that
are controlled and recorded by the Territory
(Territory items).

Amounts in the financial statements and notes
to the financial statements are presented in
Australian dollars and have been rounded to
the nearest thousand dollars, with amounts of
$500 or less being rounded down to zero.

c) Comparatives

e) Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes to accounting
policies adopted in 2011-12 as a result of
management decisions.

Where necessary, comparative information
for the 2010-11 financial year has been
reclassified to provide consistency with current
year disclosures.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12

69

PART V

Standard/Interpretation

PART V – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
f)

Accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of the financial report requires
the making of judgments and estimates that
affect the recognised amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The
estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
Judgments and estimates that have significant
effects on the financial statements are
disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial
statements. Notes that include significant
judgments and estimates are:

• Depreciation and Amortisation – Note 2(j),
Note 9: Property, Plant and Equipment, and
Note 10: Heritage and Cultural Assets.
g) Goods and services tax
Income, expenses and assets are recognised
net of the amount of Goods and Services
Tax (GST), except where the amount of GST
incurred on a purchase of goods and services
is not recoverable from the Australian Tax
Office (ATO). In these circumstances the GST
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition
of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated with the
amount of GST included. The net amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO
is included as part of receivables or payables
in the Balance Sheet.
Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow
Statement on a gross basis. The GST
components of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities, which
are recoverable from, or payable to, the
ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed
net of the amount of GST recoverable or
payable unless otherwise specified.

• Employee Benefits – Note 2(r) and Note
12: Non-current liabilities in respect of
employee benefits are measured as
the present value of estimated future
cash outflows based on the appropriate
Government bond rate, estimates of future
salary and wage levels and employee
periods of service.

h) Income recognition

• Contingent Liabilities – Note 16: The
present value of material quantifiable
contingent liabilities are calculated using a
discount rate based on the published 10year Government bond rate.

Grants and other contributions

• Allowance for Impairment Losses – Note
2(o), Note 8: Receivables and Note 14:
Financial Instruments.
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Income encompasses both revenue and gains.
Income is recognised at the fair value of
the consideration received, exclusive of the
amount of GST. Exchanges of goods or
services of the same nature and value without
any cash consideration being exchanged are
not recognised as income.
Grants, donations, gifts and other nonreciprocal contributions are recognised as
revenue when the agency obtains control
over the assets comprising the contributions.
Control is normally obtained upon receipt.
Contributions are recognised at their fair value.
Contributions of services are only recognised
when a fair value can be reliably determined
and the services would be purchased if not
donated.

Appropriation

Rendering of services

Output appropriation is the operating payment
to each agency for the outputs they provide
and is calculated as the net cost of agency
outputs after taking into account funding
from agency income. It does not include any
allowance for major non-cash costs such as
depreciation.

Revenue from rendering services is recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the
contract. The revenue is recognised when:

Revenue in respect of appropriations is
recognised in the period in which the agency
gains control of the funds.
Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
(net of returns, discounts and allowances)
when:
• the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods have transferred to
the buyer;
• the agency retains neither continuing
managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership nor
effective control over the goods sold;
• the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured;
• it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to
the agency; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in
respect of the transaction can be measured
reliably.

• it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to
the entity.
Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues,
taking into account the effective yield on the
financial asset.
Goods and services received free of charge
Goods and services received free of charge
are recognised as revenue when a fair value
can be reliably determined and the resource
would have been purchased if it had not been
donated. Use of the resource is recognised as
an expense.
Disposal of assets
A gain or loss on disposal of assets is included
as a gain or loss on the date control of the
asset passes to the buyer, usually when an
unconditional contract of sale is signed. The
gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between the carrying amount of
the asset at the time of disposal and the net
proceeds on disposal. Refer also to Note 5.
Contributions of assets
Contributions of assets and contributions
to assist in the acquisition of assets, being
nonreciprocal transfers, are recognised,
unless otherwise determined by Government,
as gains when the agency obtains control
of the asset or contribution. Contributions
are recognised at the fair value received or
receivable.
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Commonwealth appropriation follows from
the Intergovernmental Agreement on Federal
Financial Relations, resulting in Special
Purpose Payments (SPPs) and National
Partnership (NP) payments being made by the
Commonwealth Treasury to state treasuries,
in a manner similar to arrangements for GST
payments. These payments are received by
Treasury on behalf of the Central Holding
Authority and then onpassed to the relevant
agencies as Commonwealth appropriation.

• the amount of revenue, stage of completion
and transaction costs incurred can be
reliably measured; and

PART V – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i)

Repairs and maintenance expense

Funding is received for repairs and
maintenance works associated with agency
assets as part of output revenue. Costs
associated with repairs and maintenance
works on agency assets are expensed as
incurred.
j)

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Items of property, plant and equipment,
including buildings but excluding land, have
limited useful lives and are depreciated or
amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation applies in relation to intangible
non-current assets with limited useful lives and
is calculated and accounted for in a similar
manner to depreciation.
The estimated useful lives for each class of
asset are in accordance with the Treasurer’s
Directions and are determined as follows:
2012

2011

Buildings

50 years

50 years

Infrastructure assets

25 years

25 years

Plant and equipment

4 to 15 years

4 to 15 years

Leased plant and
equipment

4 years

4 years

Heritage and cultural
assets

5 years

5 years

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the
date of acquisition or from the time an asset is
completed and held ready for use.
k)

Interest expense

Interest expenses include interest and
finance lease charges. Interest expenses
are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.
l)

Cash and deposits

For the purposes of the Balance Sheet and
the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes cash
on hand, cash at bank and cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents are highly liquid short-term
investments that are readily convertible to
cash.
m) Receivables
Receivables include accounts receivable
and other receivables and are recognised at
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fair value less any allowance for impairment
losses.
The allowance for impairment losses
represents the amount of receivables the
agency estimates are likely to be uncollectible
and are considered doubtful. Analyses of the
age of the receivables that are past due as at
the reporting date are disclosed in an aging
schedule under credit risk in Note 18: Financial
Instruments. Reconciliation of changes in the
allowance accounts is also presented.
Accounts receivable are generally settled
within 30 days and other receivables within 30
days.
n) Property, plant and equipment
Acquisitions
All items of property, plant and equipment
with a cost, or other value, equal to or greater
than $10,000 are recognised in the year of
acquisition and depreciated as outlined below.
Items of property, plant and equipment below
the $10,000 threshold are expensed in the
year of acquisition.
The construction cost of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials and
direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of
fixed and variable overheads.
Complex assets
Major items of plant and equipment comprising
a number of components that have different
useful lives, are accounted for as separate
assets. The components may be replaced
during the useful life of the complex asset.
Subsequent additional costs
Costs incurred on property, plant and
equipment subsequent to initial acquisition
are capitalised when it is probable that future
economic benefits in excess of the originally
assessed performance of the asset will flow to
the agency in future years. Where these costs
represent separate components of a complex
asset, they are accounted for as separate
assets and are separately depreciated over
their expected useful lives.

As part of the financial management
framework, the Department of Construction
and Infrastructure is responsible for managing
general government capital works projects
on a whole of Government basis. Therefore
appropriation for all agency capital works
is provided directly to the Department of
Construction and Infrastructure and the cost of
construction work in progress is recognised as
an asset of that Department. Once completed,
capital works assets are transferred to the
agency.
o) Revaluations and impairment
Revaluation of assets
Subsequent to initial recognition, assets
belonging to the following classes of noncurrent assets are revalued with sufficient
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount
of these assets does not differ materially from
their fair value at reporting date:
• land;
• buildings;
• infrastructure assets;
• heritage and cultural assets;
Fair value is the amount for which an asset
could be exchanged, or liability settled,
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an
arms-length transaction.
Plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation, which is deemed to
equate to fair value.
The unique nature of some of the heritage
and cultural assets may preclude reliable
measurement. Such assets have not been
recognised in the financial statements.
Impairment of assets
An asset is said to be impaired when
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount.
Non-current physical and intangible agency
assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment on an annual basis. If an indicator
of impairment exists, the agency determines
the asset’s recoverable amount. The asset’s

recoverable amount is determined as the
higher of the asset’s depreciated replacement
cost and fair value less costs to sell. Any
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded
as an impairment loss.
Impairment losses are recognised in the
Comprehensive Operating Statement. They
are disclosed as an expense unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount. Where the
asset is measured at a revalued amount, the
impairment loss is offset against the asset
revaluation surplus for that class of asset to
the extent that an available balance exists in
the asset revaluation surplus.
In certain situations, an impairment loss
may subsequently be reversed. Where an
impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
in the Comprehensive Operating Statement
as income, unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment reversal results in an increase in
the asset revaluation surplus. Note 16 provides
additional information in relation to the asset
revaluation surplus.
p) Leased assets
Leases under which the agency assumes
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of an asset are classified as
finance leases. Other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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Construction (work in progress)

Finance leases
Finance leases are capitalised. A leased
asset and a lease liability equal to the present
value of the minimum lease payments are
recognised at the inception of the lease.
Lease payments are allocated between the
principal component of the lease liability and
the interest expense.
Operating leases
Operating lease payments made at regular
intervals throughout the term are expensed
when the payments are due, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the
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pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased property. Lease incentives under
an operating lease of a building or office
space is recognised as an integral part of the
consideration for the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives are to be recognised as a
deduction of the lease expenses over the term
of the lease.
q) Payables
Liabilities for accounts payable and other
amounts payable are carried at cost, which is
the fair value of the consideration to be paid
in the future for goods and services received,
whether or not billed to the agency. Accounts
payable are normally settled within 30 days.
r)

Employee benefits

Provision is made for employee benefits
accumulated as a result of employees
rendering services up to the reporting date.
These benefits include wages and salaries and
recreation leave. Liabilities arising in respect of
wages and salaries, recreation leave and other
employee benefit liabilities that fall due within
12 months of reporting date are classified as
current liabilities and are measured at amounts
expected to be paid. Non-current employee
benefit liabilities that fall due after 12 months
of the reporting date are measured at present
value, calculated using the Government longterm bond rate.
No provision is made for sick leave, which
is non-vesting, as the anticipated pattern of
future sick leave to be taken is less than the
entitlement accruing in each reporting period.
Employee benefit expenses are recognised
on a net basis in respect of the following
categories:
• wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits,
recreation leave, sick leave and other leave
entitlements; and
• other types of employee benefits.
As part of the financial management
framework, the Central Holding Authority
assumes the long service leave liabilities of
Government agencies, including Department
of Children and Families and as such no long
service leave liability is recognised in agency
financial statements.
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s) Superannuation
Employees’ superannuation entitlements are
provided through the:
• Northern Territory Government and Public
Authorities Superannuation Scheme
(NTGPASS);
• Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme
(CSS); or
• non-government employee-nominated
schemes for those employees commencing
on or after 10 August 1999.
The agency makes superannuation
contributions on behalf of its employees
to the Central Holding Authority or nongovernment employee-nominated schemes.
Superannuation liabilities related to
government superannuation schemes are
held by the Central Holding Authority and as
such are not recognised in agency financial
statements.
Contributions by and distributions to
government
The agency may receive contributions from
Government where the Government is acting
as owner of the agency. Conversely, the
agency may make distributions to Government.
In accordance with the Financial Management
Act and Treasurer’s Directions, certain types
of contributions and distributions, including
those relating to administrative restructures,
have been designated as contributions by,
and distributions to, Government. These
designated contributions and distributions are
treated by the agency as adjustments to equity.
The Statement of Changes in Equity
provides additional information in relation
to contributions by, and distributions to,
Government.
t)

Commitments

Disclosures in relation to capital and other
commitments, including lease commitments
are shown at Note 15.
Commitments are those contracted as at
30 June where the amount of the future
commitment can be reliably measured.

3.

Comprehensive operating statement by output group
Children and Families
Note

Total

2012

2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

12,919

8,492

12,919

8,492

138,359

113,475

138,359

113,475

24,376

16,523

24,376

16,523

112

346

112

346
3,066

INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue
Current
Appropriation
Output
Commonwealth
Sales of goods and services
Goods and services received free of charge

4

5,087

3,066

5,087

Gain on disposal of assets

5

15

0

15

0

387

193

387

193

181,255

142,095

81,255

142,095

72,602

55,219

72,602

55,219

27,031

25,748

27,031

25,749

185

0

185

0

550

405

550

405

5,087

3,555

5,087

3,555

76,358

61,638

76,358

61,638

Other income
TOTAL INCOME
EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Administrative expenses
Purchases of goods and services

6

Repairs and maintenance
Depreciation and amortisation
Other administrative expenses1

9

Grants and subsidies expenses
Current
Capital
TOTAL EXPENSES
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

2

0

2

146,568

181,813

146,568

(558)

(4,473)

(558)

(4,473)

Includes DBE service charges.

This Comprehensive Operating Statement by output group is to be read in conjunction with
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1

0
181,813

the notes to the financial statements.
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4.

Goods and services received free of charge
2012

2011

$000

$000

Corporate and information services

5,087

3,066

Total Goods And Services Received Free of Charge

5,087

3,066

5.

Gain on disposal of assets
2012

2011

$000

$000

Less: Carrying value of non-current assets disposed

(0)

(0)

Gain on the disposal of non-current assets

15

0
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6.

Purchases of goods and services
2012

2011

$000

$000

1,002

745

The net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at after charging the following expenses:
Accommodation
Advertising (2)

187

41

3,422

6,432

Audit Fees

14

48

Bank Charges

19

12

Client Travel

0

101

Clothing

9

3

Agent Service Arrangements (6)

Communications

968

889

1,374

665

Consumables / General Exp

584

350

Document Production

159

159

Entertainment / Hospitality

162

100

Consultants (1)

Food

24

42

Freight

88

33

862

1,418

1

45

2,769

2,044

64

43

It Hardware And Software Exp

(54)

467

Legal expenses (4)

987

48

General Property Management
Insurance Premiums
It Charges
It Consultants

Library Services

5

4

Marketing and promotion (3)

906

1,258

Medical/Dental Supply & Services

221

204

Membership And Subscriptions
Motor Vehicle Expenses
Office Requisites & Stationery

14

42

2,960

2,433

479

368

2,614

1,774

Other Equipment Expenses

763

1,439

Power

377

350

Official Duty Fares

Property Maintenance
Recruitment (5)
Reg/Advisory Boards/Committees
Relocation Expenses
Training And Study Expenses
Transport Equipment Expenses

755

583

1,666

1,973

87

97

7

63

2,645

888

0

2

694

502

Unallocated Corporate Credit Card Expenses

99

28

Water And Sewerage

98

55

27,031

25,748

Travelling Allowance

Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants. (2) Does not include recruitment, advertising or marketing and promotion
advertising. (3) Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing and promotion consultants’ expenses, which
are incorporated in the consultants’ category. (4) Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs. Note these costs were previously
recorded under Agent Service Arrangements. (5) Includes recruitment-related advertising costs. (6) Includes a range of corporate
services provided by the Department of Health through a shared corporate services arrangement.

(1)
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7.

Cash and deposits

Cash on hand
Cash at bank

8.

2012

2011

$000

$000

3

3

16,779

14,844

16,782

14,847

Receivables
2012

2011

$000

$000

124

8

Current
Accounts receivable
Less: Allowance for impairment losses

-1

-3

123

5

378

141

Interest receivables
GST receivables
Other receivables

1

1

379

142

502

147

2012

2011

$000

$000

792

400

792

400

At fair value

12,420

3,819

Less: Accumulated depreciation

(6,474)

(1,457)

5,946

2,362

29

29

(29)

(29)

0

0

33

33

(31)

(24)

2

9

Total Receivables

9.

Property, plant and equipment

Land
At fair value
Buildings

Computer Software
At cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Transport Equipment
At fair value
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Construction (Work in Progress)
At capitalised cost

0

10

Transferred to Assets

0

(10)

0

0

At fair value

1,093

1,112

Less: Accumulated depreciation

(378)

(276)

715

836

Total Property, Plant and Equipment

7,455

3,607

Plant and Equipment
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The Department of Children and Families has
not conducted any valuations of its Assets. The
values represented above are based on any
valuations conducted by the Department of
Health in the 2011-12 financial year.
The fair values of assets was determined
based on any existing restrictions on asset
use. Where reliable markets values were not
available, the fair value of these assets was
based on their depreciated replacement cost.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment
Agency property, plant and equipment
assets were assessed for impairment by the
Department of Health as at 30 June 2012. No
impairment adjustments were required as a
result of this review.

PART V
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$000

Construction
(Work in
Progress)
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Carrying Amount as at 30 June 2011

400

2,362

2,652

Additions/(Disposals) from asset transfers

Other Movements

(290)
400

$000

$000

Depreciation

Additions

Carrying Amount as at 1 July 2010

Buildings

Land

0

(10)

10

$000

Construction
(work in
Progress)

0

9

(9)

$000

Computer
Software

715

(114)

(7)

836

$000

Plant and
Equipment

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 2010-11 is set out below:

2011 Property, Plant and Equipment Reconciliations

5,946

Carrying Amount as at 30 June 2012

792

(430)

4,014

Depreciation

392

Additions

2,362

$000

400

$000

Carrying Amount as at 1 July 2011

Buildings

Land

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 2011-12 is set out below:

2012 Property, plant and equipment reconciliations

9. Property, plant and equipment con’t

836

875

(100)

61

$000

Plant and
Equipment

2

(6)

8

$000

Transport
Equipment

8

15

(7)

$000

Transport
Equipment

7,455

(550)

4,399

3,607

$000

Total

3,607

(10)

3,960

(405)

61

$000

Total
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10. Heritage and cultural assets
2012

2011

$000

$000

At valuation

5

5

Less: Accumulated depreciation

0

0

Written down value – 30 June

5

5

Carrying amount at 1 July

5

0

Additions/(Disposals) from asset transfers

0

5

Carrying amount as at 30 June

5

5

Carrying amount

Reconciliation of movements

Heritage and cultural assets valuation
The Department of Children and Families has one cultural asset, which was capitalised at cost upon purchase in
December 2006. The Asset was transferred from the Department of Health in 2011.

11. Payables
2012

2011

$000

$000

Accounts payable

1,925

2,582

Accrued expenses

5,308

4,476

Other payables

100

0

Total Payables

7,333

7,058

2012

2011

$000

$000

4,764

3,743

806

604

15

14

Current
Employee benefits
Recreation leave
Leave loading
Other employee benefits
Other current provisions
Other provisions

1,069
6,654

814
5,175

Non-Current
Employee benefits
Recreation leave

1,984

1,507

1,984

1,507

Total Provisions

8,637

6,682

Balance as at 30 June

8,637

6,682

The Agency employed 781 Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) employees as at 30 June 2012
(590 FTE’s as at 30 June 2011).
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13. Notes to the cash flow statement
2012

2011

$000

$000

(558)

(4,473)

550

405

0

0

35

1

(15)

0

(355)

(147)

33

(55)

Reconciliation of Cash
The total of agency ‘Cash and deposits’ of $16,782 recorded in the Balance Sheet
is consistent with that recorded as ‘Cash’ in the Cash Flow Statement.
Reconciliation of Net Surplus/(Deficit) to Net Cash from Operating Activities
Net Surplus/(Deficit)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation
Asset write-offs/write-downs
R&M - Minor New Work Non Cash
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of assets
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables
Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments
(Decrease)/Increase in payables
(Decrease)/Increase in provision for employee benefits
(Decrease)/Increase in other provisions
Net Cash from Operating Activities

275

7,058

1,701

5,868

255

814

1,921

9,471

14. Financial instruments

a) Categorisation of financial instruments

A financial instrument is a contract that gives
rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another
entity. Financial instruments held by the
Department of Children and Families include
cash and deposits, receivables and payables.
The Department of Children and Families has
limited exposure to financial risks as discussed
below.

The carrying amounts of the Department of
Children and Families financial assets and
liabilities by category are disclosed in the table
below.

2012

2011

$000

$000

16,782

14,487

502

147

7,333

7,058

Financial Assets
Cash and deposits
Loans and receivables
Financial Liabilities
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL):
Designated as at FVTPL
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b) Credit risk
The agency has limited credit risk exposure
(risk of default). In respect of any dealings with
organisations external to Government, the
agency has adopted a policy of only dealing
with credit worthy organisations and obtaining
sufficient collateral or other security where
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk
of financial loss from defaults.
The carrying amount of financial assets
recorded in the financial statements, net of any

allowances for losses, represents the agency’s
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of the value of any collateral or other
security obtained.
Receivables
Receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis to ensure that exposure to bad
debts is not significant. A reconciliation and
aging analysis of receivables is presented
below.
Aging of
Receivables

Aging of
Impaired
Receivables

Net Receivables

$000

$000

$000

2011-12
Not overdue
Overdue for less than 30 days
Overdue for 30 to 60 days
Overdue for more than 60 days
Total

481

481

4

4

17

17

0

0

502

502

Reconciliation of the Allowance for Impairment Losses
Opening
Written off during the year

2
(8)

Increase/(Decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss

6

Total

0
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Receivables con’t
Aging of
Receivables

Aging of
Impaired
Receivables

Net
Receivables

$000

$000

$000

2010-11
Not overdue

145

145

4

4

Overdue for less than 30 days
Overdue for 30 to 60 days
Overdue for more than 60 days
Total

149

2

(2)

2

147

Reconciliation of the Allowance for Impairment Losses
Opening

0

Written off during the year

0

Recovered during the year

0

Increase/(Decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss

2

Total

2

The following tables detail the agency’s
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
assets and liabilities. It should be noted
that these values are undiscounted, and
consequently totals may not reconcile to the
carrying amounts presented in the Balance
Sheet.

c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the agency will not
be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due. The agency’s approach to managing
liquidity is to ensure that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when
they fall due.
2012 Maturity analysis for financial assets and liabilities

Interest Bearing
Fixed or
Variable

Less than
a Year

1 to 5 More than
Years
5 Years

$000

$000

$000

Non
Interest
Bearing

Total

Weighted
Average

$000

$000

%

Assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables
Total Financial Assets

16,782
502
17,284

Liabilities
Payables

7,333

Total Financial Liabilities

7,333
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2011 Maturity analysis for financial assets and liabilities
Interest Bearing
Fixed or
Variable

Less than
a Year

1 to 5
Years

More than
5 Years

Non
Interest
Bearing

Total

Weighted
Average

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

%

Assets
Cash and deposits

14,847

Receivables

147

Total Financial Assets

14,994

Liabilities
Payables

7,058

Total Financial
Liabilities

7,058

d) Market risk

ii) Price risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
It comprises interest rate risk, price risk and
currency risk.

The Department of Children and Families is
not exposed to price risk as the agency does
not hold units in unit trusts.

The Department of Children and Families is
not exposed to interest rate risk as agency
financial assets and financial liabilities are noninterest bearing.

The Department of Children and Families is
not exposed to currency risk as the agency
does not hold borrowings denominated in
foreign currencies or transactional currency
exposures arising from purchases in a foreign
currency.
PART V
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iii) Currency risk
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e)

Level 2 – derived from inputs other than
quoted prices that are observable directly or
indirectly.

Net fair value

The fair value of financial instruments is
estimated using various methods. These
methods are classified into the following levels:

Level 3 – derived from inputs not based on
observable market data.

Level 1 – derived from quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.
2012

Total Carrying
Amount

Net Fair Value
Level 1

Net Fair Value
Level 2

Net Fair Value
Level 3

Net Fair Value
Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

16,782

16,782

16,782

502

502

502

17,284

17,284

17,284

Payables

7,333

7,333

7,333

Total Financial Liabilities

7,333

7,333

7,333

Total Carrying
Amount

Net Fair Value
Level 1

Net Fair Value
Level 2

Net Fair Value
Level 3

Net Fair Value
Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

14,847

14,847

Financial Assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables
Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities

2011

Financial Assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables

14,847

147

147

147

14,994

14,994

14,994

Payables

7,058

7,058

7,058

Total Financial Liabilities

7,058

7,058

7,058

Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
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15. Commitments
2012

2011

$000

$000

1,540

800

925

0

2,465

800

16,175

15,991

7,859

4,355

24,034

20,346

(i) Capital Expenditure Commitments
Capital expenditure commitments primarily related to the construction of buildings.
Capital expenditure commitments contracted for at the balance date but not
recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:
Within one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

(ii) Other Expenditure Commitments
Other non-cancellable expenditure commitments not recognised as liabilities are
payable as follows:
Within one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

(iii) Operating Lease Commitments

Within one year

136

124

Later than one year and not later than five years

151

140

287

264

Later than five years

16.

Contingent liabilities and contingent
assets

The Department of Children and Families had
no contingent liabilities or contingent assets as
at 30 June 2012 or 30 June 2011.

17.

Events subsequent to balance date

No events have arisen between the end of the
financial year and the date of this report that
require adjustment to, or disclosure in these
financial statements.
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The agency leases property under non-cancellable operating leases expiring from three to five years. Leases generally
provide the agency with a right of renewal at which time all lease terms are renegotiated. The agency also leases items
of plant and equipment under non-cancellable operating leases. Future operating lease commitments not recognised
as liabilities are payable as follows:
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18. Write-offs, postponements, waivers, gifts and ex gratia payments
Agency
2012

No. of
Trans.

$000

Agency
2011

No. of
Trans.

$000

Territory Items

Territory Items

2012

2011

No. of
Trans.

$000

$000

Write-offs, Postponements and
Waivers Under the Financial
Management Act
Represented by:
Amounts written off, postponed
and waived by Delegates

0

0

3

5

0

0

Total Written Off, Postponed and
Waived by Delegates

0

0

3

5

0

0

Gifts Under the Financial
Management Act

0

0

0

0

Ex Gratia Payments Under the
Financial Management Act

0

0

0

0
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No. of
Trans.

PART V
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Overview
In 2011-12, DCF allocated a total of $65.6 million to the Non-Government Organisation (NGO)
sector to deliver a range of services across the Northern Territory:

DCF funded NGO’s by program allocation: 2011-12
Program
Out of Home Care
Care & Protection Program
Crisis Response & General Support Services Program
Domestic & Family Violence Program
Family Support Program
Peak Body / Sector Development
Sexual Assault Services Program
Youth Services Program
Alternative Education
Small Grant Programs

$M
$27.4
$1.2
$4.5
$8.7
$6.9
$5.2
$0.3
$10.5
$0.7
$0.2

Total

$65.6
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Organisations funded in 2011-12
DCF funded 77 NGOs to deliver a range of services in 2011-12.

The funded organisations included:
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Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Healing Foundation Ltd
Aboriginal Resource and Development Services Inc
Adults Surviving Child Abuse
Akeyulerre Inc
Alice Springs Family Day Care Inc
Alice Springs Women's Shelter Incorporated
Alice Springs Youth Accommodation and Support Service Incorporated
Aboriginal Medical Services Alliance of the Northern Territory (AMSANT)
Anglicare NT (The Synod of the Diocese of the NT Inc)
Anyinginyi Health Aboriginal Corporation
Australian Red Cross Society NT
Balunu Foundation Ltd
Barkly Region Alcohol and Drug Abuse Advisory Group Incorporated
Barkly Shire Council
Bawinanga Aboriginal Corporation
Belyuen Community Government Council
BoysTown Inc
Brahminy Group Pty Ltd
Catholiccare NT
Central Australian Aboriginal Congress Inc
Charles Darwin University
Chelsea’s Disability and Family Care Agency
Children's Services Support Program (Central Australia) Inc
Children's Support Service Unit WA
City of Palmerston
Council for Aboriginal Alcohol Program Services Inc
Create Foundation Ltd
Crisis Accommodation Gove Inc
Crisis Line Inc (T/A Lifeline Top End)
Darwin Aboriginal and Islander Women’s Shelter Inc
Darwin City Council
Darwin Family Day Care Inc (Territory Child Care Group)
Darwin Toy Library Inc
Dawn House Inc
Desert Knowledge Australia
Djabulukgu Association Inc
Foster Care NT Inc
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Organisations funded in 2011-12 con’t
Gap Youth Centre Aboriginal Corporation
Good Beginnings Australia Ltd
Groote Eylandt and Milyakburra Youth Development Unit Inc
Human Services Training Advisory Council Inc
Industry Education Networking Pty Ltd
Julalikari Council Aboriginal Corporation
Kentish Family Day Care Inc
Larrakia Nation Aboriginal Corporation
Life Without Barriers
Lifestyle Solutions (Aust) Ltd
Mabunji Aboriginal Resource Association Inc
Macdonnell Shire Council
Melaleuca Refugee Centre TTSS of the NT Inc
Mission Australia
National Association for Prevention Child Abuse and Neglect
Ngaanyatjarra Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara Women's Council Aboriginal Corp
Nhulunbuy Community Toy Library Inc
NT Christian Schools Association
NT Council of Social Service Incorporated (NTCOSS)
NT Friendship and Support Inc
NT Shelter Inc
Parenting Research Centre
Relationships Australia NT Inc
Roper Gulf Shire Council
Ruby Gaea Darwin Centre Against Rape Inc
Somerville Community Services Inc
St Vincent De Paul Society Inc
Tangentyere Council Incorporated
Tennant Creek Women's Refuge Incorporated
Territory Child Care Group Inc
The Gathering Incorporated
The Katherine Women's Crisis Centre Inc
The Salvation Army (NT) Property Trust
Tiwi Islands Shire Council
Vietnam Veterans Association of Australia NT Branch Inc
Warlpiri Youth Development Aboriginal Corporation (T/A Mt Theo Program and
Mt Theo-Yuendumu Substance Misuse Aboriginal Corporation)
Wurli Wurlingjang Aboriginal Corporation
Young Men’s Christian Association Katherine Inc
Young Women's Christian Association Inc (Du)
Yuendumu Women's Centre Aboriginal Corporation
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Appendix 1a – Committee and council membership
Ministerial Groups
Northern Territory Child Protection External Monitoring and Reporting Committee
Chairperson: Professor Graham Vimpani
Members:

Dr Sven Silburn, Mr Terry Murphy, Mr Frank Hytten, Ms Teresa Neihus,
Ms Jacqui Reed, Mr Danny Munkara, and Ms Joyce Taylor.

Northern Territory Families and Children Advisory Council
Chairperson: Ms Liza Balmer
Members:

Ms Shirleen Alum, Ms Regina Bennett, Ms Tracey Brand, Ms Nareen Carter,
Ms Lava Kohaupt, Ms Jane Lloyd, Dr Louise Martin, Dr Michael Myers,
Ms Deborah Noll, Ms Marilyn Roberts, Ms Jennie Schryver, Mr John Smulders,
Dr Geoff Stewart, and Mr Phillip Leslie

Youth Minister’s Round Table of Young Territorians
Chairperson: Emily Osborne
Members:

Alvin Marrpindiwuy, Dimity Jessup, Georgia Barlow, Hamish Harty,
Isobel Cammarano, Jacinta Kay, Jessica Cullen, Joseph Smith, Karina Files, 		
Rochelle Cabry, Rona Glynn-McDonald,Tylee Wirth, Mark Munnich,
Shalira Hazelbane, and Russell Burns

Youth Justice Advisory Committee
Chairperson: Mr Stewart Willey
Members:
		
		

Commander Michael Murphy, Ms Tess Reinsch, Mr Aaron Dick, Mr Eddie Fabijan,
Ms Jennie Guinane, Ms Margaret Anderson, Ms Fiona Keppert, Mr Keith Williams,
Mr Sean Parnell, Ms Karina Gray, Mr Kevin Kadirgamar, Stewart Willey.

Screening Authority (Working With Children Clearances)
Chairperson: Executive Director – Strategic Policy and Performance
Members:
		

Ms Barbara Pedersen, Mr Craig Drury, Mr Earl Johnson, Mr Joshua Ingrames,
Ms Rosslyn Chenoweth, Ms Marilyn Lester.

Departmental Groups
DCF Executive Leadership Group
Chairperson: Chief Executive
Members:
		
		

Deputy Chief Executive
All division Executive Directors
All regional Executive Directors

DCF Audit and Risk Management Committee
Chairperson: Executive Director – Corporate Services
Members:
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Chief Finance Officer
Executive Director – Strategic Policy and Performance
Deputy Chief Executive – Regional Services
Executive Director – Care and Protection Policy and Program Development
Executive Director – Social Inclusion Policy and Program Development
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DCF Finance Committee
Chairperson: Executive Director – Corporate Services
Members:
		
		

Executive Director – Strategic Policy and Performance
Executive Director – Social Inclusion Policy and Program Development
Chief Finance Officer

DCF Information Management Committee
Chairperson: Executive Director – Strategic Policy and Performance
Members:
		

Executive Director – Care and Protection Policy and Program Development
Executive Director – Corporate Services

DCF Human Resource Management Committee
Chairperson: Executive Director – Corporate Services
Members:
		
		

Deputy Chief Executive – Regional Services
Executive Director – Social Inclusion Policy and Program Development
Director – Workforce

Workplace Health and Safety Steering Committee
Chairperson: Executive Director – Corporate Services
Members:
		
		
		
		
		
		

Executive Director – Care and Protection Policy and Program Development
Deputy Chief Executive – Regional Services
Senior Director – Corporate Services
Director – Workforce
Director – Audit and Risk
Senior Director – Strategic Policy and Performance
Consultant – Workplace Health and Safety

DCF Information Management Group
Chairperson: Executive Director – Strategic Policy and Performance
Deputy Chief Executive – Regional Services
Executive Director – Care and Protection Policy and Program Development
Executive Director – Corporate Services
Director and Executive Director – Social Inclusion Policy and Program Development
Data Manager – Performance and Reporting
Senior Manager – Quality and Practice
Director – Alternative Care and Quality Improvement
Chief Information Officer (Department of Health)
Director – Community Care Information Services (Department of Health)
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Appendix 1b – DCF representation on committees
Australia
Australian Statutory Child Protection Learning and Development Group
Building Capacity and Expertise Working Group (sub-group of the National Framework for
Protecting Australia’s Children Implementation Working Group)
Central Implementation Team, Intensive Family Support Services
Common Approach to Assessment Referral and Support Taskforce
Community Services - Disaster Recovery Sub-Committee
Cross Jurisdiction Social Finance Working Group
Housing and Homelessness Information Management Group
Housing and Homelessness Policy and Research Working Group
Ministerial Working Group on Welfare Reform
National Child Protection Clearinghouse Reference Group
National Community Services Information Management Group
National Framework for Protecting Australia’s Children Implementation Working Group
National Plan to Reduce Violence Against Women Senior Officials Working Group
National Plan to Reduce Violence Against Women National Implementation Panel
National Youth Working Group
Pay Equity Taskforce
Performance and Data Working Group (sub-group of the National Framework for Protecting
Australia’s Children Implementation Working Group)
Protection and Support Services Working Group
Select Council on Women’s Issues
Select Council on Women’s Issues Senior Women’s Officials Group
Specialist Homelessness Services Collection Working Group
Standing Council on Community and Disability Services
Standing Council on Community and Disability Services Advisory Group
Standing Council on Community and Disability Services Community Services Disaster Recovery
Sub Committee
Stronger Futures in the NT Child Youth, Family and Community Wellbeing Package,
Commonwealth and NT Government Joint Working Party
Work Life Balance Working Group

Northern Territory
Accommodation Action Groups (Darwin, Katherine, Barkly and Alice Springs)
Alice Springs Integrated Response to Family Violence Reference Group
Alice Springs Youth Co-ordination Committee
Anglicare Communities for Children Reference Group Alice Springs
Anglicare Communities for Children Strategic Advisory Group
Australian Early Development Index Co-ordination Committee
Barkly Youth Services Providers Network
Central Australian Family Violence and Sexual Assault Network
Centre for Child Development and Education Board (Menzies School of Health Research)
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Charles Darwin University Bachelor of Social Work Course Advisory Group
Chief Executives’ Child Protection Taskforce
Chief Executives’ Co-ordination Committee
Child Protection External Monitoring and Reporting Committee
Child Safety and Wellbeing Directors Network
Community Safety Working Group
Counter Disaster Council
Darwin Domestic Violence Network
Darwin and Rural Workers with Youth Network
Darwin Region Interagency Tasking and Coordination Group
Department of Health and Unions Consultative Committee
Early Childhood Steering Committee
Grants Management System Implementation Project Steering Committee
Housing and Homelessness Advisory Group
Information Sharing Legislative Reform Reference Group
Integrated Family Services Working Group
International Women’s Day Darwin Committee
Katherine Youth Interagency Tasking and Co-ordination Group
Mental Health Tribunal
Mind Matters Reference Group
Mobile Outreach Service Plus Expert Reference Group
NGO Partnership Forum
NT Families and Children Advisory Council
NT Government and Charles Darwin University Partnership Peak Group
NT Youth Affairs Network Subcommittee
NT Remote Service Delivery Board of Management Committee
NT Remote Service Delivery Co-ordination Committee
NT Government Youth Policy Framework Reference Group
Palmerston and Rural Workers with Youth Network
Red Cross Communities for Children Management Committee
Remote Accommodation Working Party
Rivers of Hope - Katherine Family Violence and Sexual Assault Network
Sexual Assault Network Darwin
Smith Family Communities for Children Reference Group
Social Responsibility Sub-committee
Strategic Interagency Group (Family Responsibility Program)
Youth Court Matters
Youth Interagency Tasking and Co-ordinating Group and East Arnhem Youth Interagency
Network
Youth Justice Advisory Committee
Youth Justice Review Expert Reference Panel
Youth Minister’s Round Table of Young Territorians
Youth Services Alice Springs Forum
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Appendix 2 – Progress report: Ombudsman NT - A life
long shadow: Report of a partial investigation of the
Child Protection Authority (June 2011)
Department of Children and Families Progress Report June 2012
Recommendation

Progress report

That Section 34 of the Care and Protection
of Children Act (CPCA) be amended to
extend the authority of the Child Protection
Authority (CPA) to request information:
‘that may be relevant in connection with
or incidental to a child’s wellbeing’, or
‘relevant to information received about a
child’.

COMPLETED

That a provision is inserted into Section 34
of the CPCA to allow the CEO: ‘to make
those inquiries of any other persons who
may reasonably be expected to have
information about a child’

COMPLETED

That the Education Act be amended and
that a child or person who is the subject of
any notice or action under the Education
Act Amendment Bill 2011 be prescribed
under Section 258(2)(f) of the Care and
Protection of Children Act so that the
Children’s Commissioner can consider
whether or not to investigate the matter.

COMPLETED

Further, that Section 15(2) of the CPCA
define harm to include: ‘A child or young
person of school going age frequently
does not attend school without a
reasonable excuse’.

COMPLETED

5

That Section 26 of the CPCA be amended
to extend the mandatory reporting
requirement to frequent non-attendance at
school without a reasonable excuse.

A Mandatory Reporter Guide is being developed to assist
notifiers to understand their reporting obligations for child
protection in the Northern Territory. This Guide will address
when school non attendance reaches the threshold for
reporting harm as defined in the Act.

6

That another phone be established
seven days per week 24 hours a day
that is dedicated to, and only given to
professional notifiers and which receives
priority in being answered. That phone
number should also be available to NT
Police and the Principal and Deputy
Principal of schools.

CIT Manager is actively engaging with hospitals and has
established regular meetings with external stakeholders to
develop protocols around access to the use of the dedicated
phone line into CIT.

1

2

3

4
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The Legislative Assembly approved the passage of the Care
and Protection of Children Amendment (Information Sharing)
Bill 2012, with the Act commencing on 1 July 2012.
This includes broader information gathering powers of
authorised officers. It clarifies that any information relating
directly or indirectly to the inquiry can be sought and the
information can be requested from anyone the authorised
officer reasonably believes has the specified information.

As for recommendation 1 above.

As for recommendation 1 above.
The Department of Education and Training has agreed to
establish a protocol for disclosing to Central Intake Team
(CIT) when an Infringement Notice has been issued for nonattendance.
Amendments made to Part 4 of the NT Education Act
provide greater power to authorised officers to achieve
reengagement.

DCF has issued a direction to CIT to identify a process to
notify the Department of Education and Training following
any reports of suspected harm involving non-attendance at
school.

DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

Recommendation

Progress report

That the facility for professional notifiers to
email or facsimile notifications be restored
to the Northern Territory public hospitals.

COMPLETED

That if the practice of intake workers
going off line from the telephone to
complete entry of a notification into
CCIS is to continue that the number of
intake workers answering the phones be
increased [OMBUDSMAN NOTE: The
recommendation was made on information
that the CPA says is outdated. The CPA
agrees there ought to be five workers
to answer the two phones and there
are five since April 2011. I have left the
recommendation in because I have not
verified that there are always five.]

COMPLETED

9

That the CPA only records an outcome as
“harm / abuse / neglect / unsubstantiated”
if the CPA has carried out sufficient
investigation to be positively satisfied that
the child, the subject of the report, is not at
risk of harm or neglect or abuse

An analysis of unsubstantiated Child Protection
Investigations from 1/12/2011 - 31/1/2012 is currently
being undertaken by DCF to determine if appropriate
measures have been taken/documented to evidence the
unsubstantiated outcome.

10

(a) That the CPA reinstitutes the Third
Report Rule to mandate that if there are
three notifications within 12 months for a
child or children in the same household an
investigation must occur.

COMPLETED

8

(b) That the CPA amends its policy to
prescribe that for the operation of the
Third Report Rule 3 intake events within
12 months for a child or a member of the
same household triggers an investigation.
11

12

A new form has been designed which allows hospital staff
follow up a verbal notification with a written summary.

DCF commenced a permanent 24 hour, seven days per
week roster at CIT in September 2011, including an in-built
evaluation process.
Initial response times for notifiers appear to have decreased
markedly. During busy times (mainly normal business hours)
the number of intake workers responding to calls does not fall
below five personnel.

DCF has introduced Structured Decision Making (SDM)
assessment tools in CIT which will enhance the quality of
intake decision making. The Intake Screening tool has been
modified for use in the Northern Territory to identify cases
where there have been three prior reports of suspected harm
as indicating risk of harm.

That in calculating whether three intake
events have occurred within 12 months
any report by one or more persons
notifying the same or similar information
about the same child or household be
treated as a single report not a duplicate
report.

COMPLETED

I recommend that RDH and other
hospitals keep a register of notifications
made to CIT. I recommend that the
Quality Assurance Unit do a three
monthly comparison of the hospitals’
register and CCIS to assess outcomes
and convergence or differences between
reports made and CIT’s assessments.

COMPLETED

DCF has introduced a Structured Decision Making (SDM)
tool. This includes the implementation of the intake screen
tool to ensure the accuracy of assessing and integrating
information from every notification.

Department of Health staff will continue the process of
notifying in line with the legislation and the Department’s
notification policy and in line with their professional duty of
care.
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13

14

Recommendation

Progress report

That a review of the adequacy of
orientation training is pursued by the
CPA to identify training needs for intake
workers so that they have the capability to
use CCIS effectively.

COMPLETED

(1) RDH social work records be kept
as separate section in the patients’
medical records for ease of reference,
not interspersed within the medical and
nursing notes and be more extensive than
in the past or;

COMPLETED – DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

The Australian Childhood Foundation (ACF) has been
engaged to deliver pre-service core foundational training for
all CP staff. This commenced in March 2012.
CIT currently employs a full time Training Manager based
within the Central Intake office who is currently in the process
of meeting with all division staff to identify individual training
needs and develop appropriate training practice. The
training manager is also working closely with team leaders
and managers to identify best practice initiatives, leading to
more consistent decision making processes for notifications
received by CIT.

The Department of Health (DoH) maintains that single
Medical Records in chronological order must be kept to
ensure safe practice and compliance with national standards.

(2) The records of social workers be kept
separately if considered that access to
the social history of a family should be
inaccessible to some category of hospital
staff.
15

16

17
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That the position of an intake worker
stationed at RDH becomes a permanent
arrangement even if only half time at RDH
with that worker being able to accept
notifications directly from RDH personnel.

COMPLETED

That the CPA examine the files of
the children identified in this report
whose circumstance should have been
investigated under the third report rule but
weren’t to determine how best to configure
the case management system CCIS to
automatically highlight that a notification is
a third one within 12 months for children in
the same household.

An initial review was completed in August 2011 of the 17
identifiable children highlighted in the report. Additional
review activity was completed for the remaining 19
children identified in the sealed correspondence from the
Ombudsman.

That administrative staff do not perform
the function of reviewing previous history
from CCIS. When an administrative officer
performs a task that should be recorded
on the intake form.

COMPLETED

P3 Multi-agency Assessment and Coordination (MAC)
Coordinator has been recruited and commenced on 15
December 2011.

A summary of the review undertaken by DCF has been
attached to the electronic record of each child reviewed and
DCF will ensure appropriate follow up is actioned.
Due to a formal request from the CE, additional information
was received from the Ombudsman’s Office on 13 July 2012,
as a result additional work is required to review the remaining
children.

Administrative officers are no longer involved in this practice.
No further action is being taken.
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Recommendation

Progress report

That the Quality Assurance Unit review
the logs of calls to the CIT and compare
them to the rosters of staff and the leave
records of CIT to determine how often
an administrative officer has received /
recorded notifications as opposed to mere
entry into CCIS information created by a
professional intake worker.

COMPLETED

That the CIT Operations Manual be
amended from: ‘the work unit may need to
plan Child Protection action in advance of
the birth and liaise with maternity services
‘to‘ the work unit must plan a child
protection action in advance and must
liaise with maternity services when there
is a foreseeable risk to the wellbeing of an
unborn child or if any child of the parents
or either of them has previously been
the subject of a report when harm was
substantiated.’

This issue to be considered in the review of the intake policy
and procedures included in the 2012 Business Plan for
the Care and Protection Policy and Program Development
Division of DCF.

That all information given to the CPA about
children believed to be at risk of harm be
retained for future automatic retrieval and
cross-matching with the child the subject
of the intake event and any other child
in the same household if there is a later
notification.

COMPLETED

21

That a repeat evaluation of the 15 families
who were involved in the first evaluation
of Targeted Family Services by CDU be
carried out. I recommend that the External
Monitoring Committee guide the terms of
reference for the evaluation and review
the results of the evaluation.

The Charles Darwin University (CDU) evaluation report
of Targeted Family Support Services (TFSS) is due in
August 2012. It will be provided to Child Protection External
Monitoring and Reporting Committee.

22

Quarterly audits of a sample of
notifications that have been assessed as
no further action as a result of insufficient
information to determine the quality of
those decisions.

The Practice Integrity and Complaints Management Branch
has been established and a schedule of audit activities will
be developed in 2012.

23

The Operations Manual be amended so
that it mandates enquiries be undertaken
to clarify initial information where those
enquiries can be made by the intake
worker of the notifier or Northern Territory
Police.

This issue will be considered as part of the 2012 Business
Plan for the Care and Protection Policy and Program
Development Division of DCF.

19

20

The historical circumstances that led to administrative staff
recording data and information have ceased.
No further action is being taken.

The legislative basis for DCF involvement in unborn child
related matters were included in the issues paper released
on 5 March 2012 for consultation for the major review of the
Care and Protection of Children Act.

Existing practice, no further action.
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24

25

26

Recommendation

Progress report

That the CPA disclose in its annual report
the number of notifications received,
the number allocated to a work unit, the
cases which are open and closed, at
the beginning and end of each reporting
period, the time from receipt until closure
and break this down into regional areas.

COMPLETED

That the CPA reviews and monitors what
are classified as ’enquiries’ to determine
whether keeping a brief record of matters
enquired about will enhance the quality
assurance of decision making and identify
areas that might need more education for
the public, professionals and any service
provider who are likely to notify children at
risk of harm.

The Practice Integrity and Complaints Management Branch
has been established. The Branch will be developing an
operational plan and an annual practice audit and review
plan.

That the recommendation of the Board
of Inquiry that there be a staff survey of
the Dept of Children and Families within
18 months of the Board’s Report be
expedited and a survey completed no later
than 1st December 2011.

As part of the overall Strategic Plan and Organisational
Change Strategy project being undertaken by KPMG, the
first stage of the DCF People Survey was conducted online
during November 2011. The People Survey achieved an
extremely successful response rate of 82%. Additional work
is now being undertaken to develop the second stage of the
People Survey with a focus on the successful engagement
of remote staff. The results of the survey were presented to
the Executive Leadership Group in February and have been
disseminated to staff.

New indicators for annual reporting have been developed in
response to this recommendation. These will be included in
the 2011-12 Annual report and will be included as ongoing
annual reporting indicators in future reports.

This issue will be considered as part of the 2012 planned
CPPPD review of Central Intake policy.

The second stage of the People Survey is scheduled to occur
in October 2012.
27

That the Practice Direction of
30 November 2010 and any similar
direction in the CPA Operations Manual
that a notifier must believe, and can be
asked that harm to a child is caused by a
parent or caregiver be revoked.

To be considered during the revision of the Intake chapter
included in the 2012 Business Plan for the Care and
Protection Policy and Program Development Division of DCF.

28

I recommend that the guidelines for the
eligibility for PATS to be altered so that
where it is necessary for a mother from
a community to travel twice to RDH in
connection with the birth of a child then
two return airfares be provided. As I
pointed out to the Minister the cost of a
return airfare within the Northern Territory
cannot possibly exceed the cost of
keeping a child in hospital for even one
day.

COMPLETED – DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH
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The Department of Health (DoH) supports the discretionary
provisions of the Patient Assistance Travel Scheme (PATS)
guidelines across all Northern Territory hospitals, which allow
for each case to be assessed on its merits.

DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

Appendix 3 – Progress report: Recommendations
arising from Coronial enquiries
Department of Children and Families Progress Report June 2012
DM Coronial – Coroner’s reference D0109/2007
Recommendation

Progress report

The Care and Protection of Children Act
2008 be amended to include a requirement
that a child under the care of the CEO and
who is residing in the Territory must be
visited by a person authorised by the CEO
at least once every two months.

SUPERSEDED

Regulations should be promulgated under
section 78(3) of the Care and Protection
of Children Act 2008 which specify
certain basic standards of care that must
be provided to a child at the placement
arrangement.

COMPLETED

3

Section 70 of the Care and Protection
of Children Act 2008 be amended to
include that a care plan must refer to the
basic standards of care specified in the
Regulations. Consequential amendments
should be made to section 76 of the Act.

See recommendation 1

4

Section 74 of the Care and Protection of
Children Act 2008 should be amended
to require the person conducting the
six monthly review of the care plan to
assess whether the carer is meeting the
basic standards of care specified in the
Regulations.

See recommendation 1

5

Section 12 of the Care and Protection of
Children Act 2008 should be amended
to include a sub-section specifying
that a person with whom an Aboriginal
child is placed be required to meet the
basic standards of care specified in the
Regulations.

See recommendation 1

6

Consideration should be given to amending
the Care and Protection of Children Act
2008 to permit a regular court review of
protection orders made under Subdivision 3
of Division 4 of Part 2.3 of the Act.

See recommendation 1

2

Now being addressed through response to the Board of
Inquiry report Growing them strong, together.
DCF released a discussion paper in March 2012 to
commence a Major Review of the Care and Protection of
Children Act (the Act). The Review will address a number of
Board of Inquiry recommendations along with a number of
DM Coronial D0109/2007 recommendations.

The Care and Protection of Children (Placement
Arrangement) Regulations came into force on
1 September 2010.
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DM Coronial – Coroner’s reference D0109/2007
Recommendation

Progress report

7

Part 5.1 of the Care and Protection of
Children Act 2008 should be amended
to provide for a regular two yearly review
of administration of the Act in so far as it
relates to protected children and to confer
more specific powers on the Children’s
Commissioner to enable him or her to
conduct such a review.

See recommendation 1

8

Section 15 of the Care and Protection of
Children Act 2008 should be amended to
include a definition of “cumulative harm” to
a child.

See recommendation 1

9

Professional staff at FACS1 should receive
specific training concerning issues of
identifying and dealing with issues of
cumulative harm to children in the care of
the CEO.

COMPLETED

FACS should develop a written handover
system when one caseworker takes over a
new case. Such a system should include a
short succinct summary identifying any risk
factors or areas of concern pertaining to the
child in care.

COMPLETED

FACS should enhance its computerised
information system to ensure that
caseworkers can easily identify ‘red flag’
issues or issues of concern in respect of
each child in care.

COMPLETED

10

11

Structured Decision Making (SDM) was introduced into CIT in
July 2010. The SDM screening tool incorporates cumulative
harm into the assessment. Staff receive training in the use
of SDM. Cumulative harm has been incorporated into DCF
core training and a practice paper on cumulative harm is
now available to operational staff through the DCF Resource
Manual. DCF policy is being updated to incorporate the
issue of cumulative harm. This recommendation is being
incorporated into DCF’s response to the Board of Inquiry.

The Policy and Procedures Manual relating to case transfers
has been amended to ensure that guidelines are in place for
all situations where caseworkers take over a new case.

Changes have been made to the client information system
that will alert workers to critical information regarding
children. This includes:
• changes allowing workers to see when other agencies
have active involvement with a family; and
• reports can now be produced that advise workers and
management when compliance with standards such as
face to face contact with a child has not been met.
Enhancements have been completed to ensure workers
are automatically notified when it has been identified that a
critical incident has occurred with a child in care and to easily
identify issues of concern.

1

FACS refers to Family and Children’s Services, an acronym used to describe Northern Territory Family and Children, the services of
which are now under the jurisdiction of the Department of Children and Families.
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DM Coronial – Coroner’s reference D0109/2007

12

13

14

Recommendation

Progress report

FACS notify the Northern Territory Police
of the name and address of a carer with
whom the CEO has entered a placement
arrangement, and develop a protocol for
the police to notify FACS in relation to any
matters of interest relating to that carer or
that address.

COMPLETED

The carer application forms are amended
to include information about all the children
who have ever been in the care of an
applicant.

COMPLETED

FACS provides sufficient administrative
support in terms of administrative
personnel and equipment for caseworkers
to enable caseworkers to focus on their
core responsibilities of protecting children
in care.

COMPLETED

Amendments to the Care and Protection of Children Act were
passed on 27 March 2012 to improve information sharing.
Through the response to Board of Inquiry recommendation
113, DCF will deliver guidelines, tools and training in support
of the legislative changes.
All carers are required to undertake Working With Children
Clearances and are required to have a current Ochre Card.
Northern Territory Police through SAFE NT are responsible
for the Ochre Card database.

All forms relating to the assessment and registration of carers
are currently being reviewed and amended.

A significant number of new positions have been created
within DCF since May 2010 to improve support to case
workers, including 10 client information quality officers,
additional team support workers and Specialist Services
Managers.
A field book for child protection workers was developed to
assist in timely recording of client contact that occurs away
from the office.
The electronic client information system is also undergoing
improvements to ensure workers have appropriate access
to information and to streamline the process for entering
duplicate information across multiple siblings.
This recommendation will continue to be addressed through
DCF’s response to the Board of Inquiry.

Child 7 Coronial – (Coroner’s reference D0132/2007)

1.a

It is recommended, in relation to systems
(including computer and hard copy files
systems), staff recruitment, training and
support that adequate resources be given
to fix these concerns.

Progress report
SUPERSEDED
Now being addressed through response to the Board of
Inquiry, Growing them strong, together report.
As part of the Board of Inquiry response, DCF is recruiting
additional child protection workers, delivering additional
training and professional development opportunities, and
has established new positions such as 10 client information
quality officers, additional team support workers,
Complaints Officer, Training Officer, Courts Officer, Cultural
Adviser, Practice Adviser and Specialist Services Manager.
Community Care Information System (CCIS) improvements
are being progressively implemented to underpin the policy,
program and legislative changes underway through the
Board of Inquiry response.

1.b

It is also recommended that the MOU
between FACS and the Police be formally
signed off.

COMPLETED
MOU signed in April 2010.

ANNUAL REPORT 2011-12 105

PART VII

Recommendation

PART VII – APPENDICES
Appendix 4 – Progress report: Implementation of High
Risk Audit recommendations
Department of Children and Families Progress Report June 2012
1.

Recommendation

Actions

Given that there has been
a lot of recent research
into risk assessment and
child protection intake
systems, and that there
have been recent reviews
of the intake processes
in other states, a review
of the current NT tools
and processes should be
undertaken.

COMPLETED
The Policy and Procedures Manual, Intake tools, and Central Intake
services, have been reviewed. As a result the following actions
occurred:
• A new intake event was introduced in the electronic Client
Information System on 1 July 2009.
• Structured Decision Making (SDM) Tools for Intake commenced
1 July 2010.
• The Client Summary View was commenced in late 2010 in the client
information system allowing a more holistic view of a family’s child
protection records.
• CIT was overhauled with a new 24/7 service implemented from
September 2011.

2.

That FACS1 develops a
comprehensive strategy
to facilitate and integrate
service development for
children and young people
with high needs and
challenging behaviours.
This plan should cover
the development of
identification, assessment
and case management
protocols as well as
educational, recreational,
therapeutic and
accommodation options
for the local young people.
It should involve plans
for resourcing, recruiting,
training, supervising
and supporting those
who work with troubled
youth and for the
phased development of
specialised intervention
services. It should also
address the need for
cross-Program and NGO
collaboration.

SUPERSEDED
Being addressed through the Government’s response to various
recommendations made by the Board of Inquiry report Growing them
strong, together.
The Shared Client Case Management Framework and the Information
Sharing Policy were implemented on 5 October 2009 to facilitate
communication across programs. The electronic client information
system (CCIS) was upgraded to support these policies, allowing
workers to see when other programs are actively involved with a family.
Amendments to the Care and Protection of Children Act have been
passed to introduce an information sharing framework. Roll out of the
legislation is being accompanied by training, tools and guidelines.
In July 2010 Structured Decision Making tools were implemented in CIT
to support professionals in the assessment process. Four additional
Structured Decision Making tools were rolled out from July 2011.
A re-unification tool will be implemented late 2012.
The Youth Justice Act (Family Responsibility) amendment was passed
and commenced in 2008. This amendment enables work to occur with
families to address young people’s anti-social or criminal behaviours.
Three therapeutic youth camps are funded to provide intensive
intervention with at risk youth. Four additional therapists have been
recruited, two in Darwin, one in Katherine and one in Alice Springs.
Youth Safe Houses became operational in Alice Springs in May 2011
and in Darwin in December 2011, and provide an afterhours emergency
response to at risk youth on the streets.
A new incentives package for DCF frontline staff commenced in
January 2011 to address recruitment and retention issues.
A Supervision Framework to support DCF staff was developed and
implemented in August 2010. DCF Supervision Policy and Practice
two day training is available to all staff through the Learning and
Development Training Calender. The Policy and associated tools and
guidelines will be independently reviewed.

1

FACS refers to Family and Children’s Services, an acronym used to describe Northern Territory Family and Children, the services of
which are now under the jurisdiction of the Department of Children and Families.
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4.

5.

Actions

It is recommended that
the Northern Territory
Government, as part of
an overall strategy for
responding to the needs
of young people with
high and complex needs,
consider the development
of a small-scale ‘secure
care’ facility to provide a
temporary containment
and treatment option for
young people at extreme
risk. Secure welfare
facilities are operated
by Human Services
in Victoria, are under
development in Western
Australia, and are being
considered by other
states. Planning around
secure care options might
be undertaken in the
context of a broader highrisk youth strategy.

In April 2009 following a recommendation of the 2007 High Risk Audit
the Northern Territory Government announced a commitment to fund the
construction of two purpose built Secure Care Facilities in Darwin and
Alice Springs for young people with high risk behaviours and complex
needs. Additional funds were made available to increase capacity within
the Darwin and Alice Springs Hospitals Mental Health settings to enable
a small number of young people with acute and highly complex needs
to be assessed and receive immediate treatment. Recurrent operational
funding was also made available. Subsequently, the Board of Inquiry
(recommendation 66) reinforced the need for a Secure Care Facility
but broadened the scope of services needed to include a continuum of
Therapeutic Services.

It is recommended that
FACS urgently review
the policies and practices
around case transfers
between regions and
offices to address
recurrent issues arising
from communication
problems and disputes
around case ‘ownership’.

COMPLETED

It is recommended that
FACS institute a plan to
substantially improve the
compliance rates relating
to the requirements
around the assessment
and training of carers,
with a particular emphasis
on ensuring that relative
and ‘other’ carers offer a
comparable standard of
safety and care to that
provided to the children
in regular foster care
placements.

SUPERSEDED

The development of Assessment and Treatment Services and in
Darwin (Yirra House) and Alice Springs (Kwiyernpe (Koy-um-pa) House)
expands the range of services available for young people with complex
high risk patterns of behaviour who present a significant risk of harm to
themselves or others.
The Houses provide young people with a safe and structured
environment in which they can learn new skills and patterns of
behaviour intended to improve their wellbeing, reduce their risk of harm,
and enable them to step-down to a less restrictive care option in the
future. Admission to the Group Houses will be a last resort option and
requires all other treatment options to have been exhausted.
Drafting of amendments to the Care and Protection of Children Act
are well advanced and will provide the legislative vehicle to enable
the delivery of secure care services. Public briefings and consultation
has taken place in the last nine months. This culminated in the public
release of the Care and Protection of Children (Therapeutic Orders)
Amendment Bill on 18 May 2012.

A review of the Policy and Practice manual has been completed with
policy rewritten to ensure a responsive service. Training to support
implementation has also been updated.

Being addressed through DCF’s response to Board of Inquiry
recommendations 55-58 and 60. Policies and the audit/quality
processes relating to foster and relative carers will be reviewed.
In response to the High Risk Audit, a Quality Framework was developed
in 2008 and implemented. The Quality Team internally reviewed 10% of
substitute care cases on a monthly basis against core policy standards.
A Family Care Policy was also developed and introduced in April 2008.
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6.

Recommendation

Actions

It is recommended that
FACS develop and
implement a plan to
significantly reduce its
reliance on care providers
who have not been
appropriately assessed,
licensed or trained.

SUPERSEDED
Being addressed through DCF’s response to Board of Inquiry
Recommendations 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 43, 52, 56, 57, 60, 66, 67, 77, 78,
79, 103, 104.
The Board of Inquiry recommended that DCF conduct a comprehensive
review of residential care services to address concerns, estimate
projected demand, determine the optimal service mix and costing
models and clarify the role of non-government service providers. An
Alternative Care Reform Unit has been established to review the
requirements of alternative care services including. The reform will
incorporate residential care, foster and kinship care, therapeutic options
and non-government partnerships.
Out of home care training is being delivered to carers.
Regional Services have a strategy to deal with carers whose registration
has lapsed. Carer Registration Review Teams have been established,
in Darwin and Alice Springs. A tender has been awarded to Life
Without Barriers to assess and undertake pre-approval training for all
outstanding and current new carer enquiries.

7.

8.
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It is recommended that
FACS reviews the risk
assessment sections
of the FACS Policy
and Practice Manual
and provide a more
prescriptive format
that focuses on the
ongoing assessment and
management of risk.
It is recommended that
FACS investigate the
possibility of instituting a
risk-based foster family
classification system.
Such a system might
help identify foster
families that need higher
levels of supervision and
support. Updated risk
classifications could be
included as components
of the regular annual case
reviews.

COMPLETED
The Policy and Procedures Manual has been reviewed. Structured
Decision Making (SDM) Tools for Central Intake commenced on
1 July 2010 to support workers in the assessment process. SDM
tools Safety, Risk, Family Strengths and Needs Assessment were
implemented on 1 July 2011. In late 2012, the SDM re-unification
tool will be introduced to also assist workers involved in ongoing case
management.

SUPERSEDED
Being addressed through DCF’s response to Board of Inquiry
recommendations 50, 51, 54 and 55.
Since 2007 there has been substantial review of policies relating to the
assessment, training and support of carers.
DCF is also considering the adoption of the Structured Decision Making
Tool, Substitute Care Provider Tool. This tool matches children with
appropriate carers and identifies any supports required.
The Care and Protection of Children (Placement Arrangement)
Regulations came into force on 1 Sept 2010. These regulations
specify basic standards of care that must be provided to a child in the
placement arrangement.
The current case plan template will be reviewed to ensure that the basic
standards of care are reflected. A revised Carer’s Handbook has been
developed. This will incorporate a charter. Additional funding is being
provided to Foster Care NT to provide more training and support to
carers.
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9.

10.

11.

Recommendation

Actions

Having identified a child
with special health needs,
it is recommended that
the risk level of the child
should be determined,
and there should be
a process of intensive
monitoring until such time
as a health assessment
indicates that there are no
longer special needs

COMPLETED

When a child known to
FACS moves out-of-area
it is recommended that
there should be a timely
and efficient process of
case transfer that includes
the forwarding of the
paper file, and a joint
review of risk status and
intervention planning.

COMPLETED

When a child is assessed
as ‘conditionally
safe’ contingent on
the engagement of
‘wraparound’ supports,
it is recommended that
there is some system
of monitoring to ensure
that these supports are
engaged.

COMPLETED

A review of the policy and procedures related to the case management
of children in care has been completed.
The case plan template used for children in care incorporates a section
related to the health of a child to ensure appropriate planning is in place
to meet the needs of the child.

A review of the Policy and Procedures manual has been completed with
policy rewritten to support a responsive service. Training to support staff
to implement the policy has also been updated.

A review of the policy and procedures has been completed and
implemented. Feedback is formally provided to notifiers to ensure that
there is an awareness regarding the status of child protection services
involvement. This enables services to renotify if a child’s situation
changes.
As part of the former Department of Health and Families, child
protection services undertook a review of policy and procedures and
was involved in the development of a cross program risk tool within the
Shared Client Case Management Framework.
A key part of this framework was changes to the electronic client
information system that allowed workers to identify when other program
areas were active with a family.
In July 2011, Structured Decision Making assessments were introduced,
ensuring system monitoring to ensure that an appropriate case plan is
implemented within 28 days of the completion of investigations where a
young person is assessed as conditionally safe.

19.
20 to 22.

Recommendations in relation to the Department of Health, Aged and
Disability Program.
Recommendations in relation to the Department of Health, Alcohol and
Other Drugs Program.
Recommendations in relation to the Department of Health, Mental
Health Program.
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23.

24.

25.

2

Recommendation

Actions

It is recommended that
each of the Community
Services Programs
develops an annual
risk management plan
in accordance with the
DHCS2 Policy document
on Risk Management
dated 23 January 2004,
that, amongst the other
requirements, specifically
identifies risks to clients
and others. The risk
management plan will
need to set out ‘specific
treatments’ as stated in
the policy.

COMPLETED

It is recommended that
the Community Services
Division develop a
‘flagging’ system in the
CCIS (the electronic
client information system)
whereby workers in one
Program are alerted to the
fact that the client (and/
or an immediate family
member) is being served
by another Program within
the Division.

COMPLETED

It is recommended that
within six months, the
Community Service
Division develops and
implements a Complex
Needs Case Coordination
strategy that includes
prescriptive guidelines
for cross-Program
coordination in those
cases where high risk
is identified and there is
multiple Program case
involvement.

COMPLETED

As part of the previous Department of Health and Families the Risk
Management Policy and Guidelines were revised.
In 2009 the operational policy was updated to include the Reportable
Incidents Framework which assisted in the identification of specific risks
to clients and provided appropriate response pathways.
On 1 January 2011 the Department of Children and Families was
created under a shared corporate services arrangement with the
Department of Health (DoH). As a result, the Department continues to
utilise the existing Risk Management Policy and Guidelines.
A Risk Management (RM) process specific to the Department of
Children and Families is currently being developed. This process will
identify applicable service types and will include the need for funded
services to reflect the RM process as well as a need for agreed risk
assessments and management.
The Department has finalised its strategic plan and divisional business
plan will cascade out of this and address specific operational risks.

A Shared Care Case Management Framework was developed
between the program areas. A key part of this framework was changes
to the electronic client information system that allowed workers to
identify when other program areas are active with a family. This was
implemented in October 2009.

A Shared Care Case Management Framework was developed between
the program areas. The Shared Care Case Management Framework
articulates how programs will share risk information and, where
appropriate, provide a holistic identification and assessment of client
risk and coordinate risk management plans.
A risk assessment tool has also been incorporated into the Framework
to ensure consistency in the identification, assessment and rating of
clients identified as presenting risks of harm to themselves and/or
others.

DHCS refers to the Department of Health and Community Services, the predecessor to the Department of Health and Families, which
has since become the Department of Children and Families and the Department of Health.
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27.

28.

Actions

It is recommended that
each Community Services
Program ensures it has
a coherent mechanism
for the identification and
classification of each
client in terms of risk
status; that funded NGOs
are assessed as to their
capacity to manage clients
at high risk levels; that
the service requirements
outlined in the service
plans be reviewed to
more specifically reflect
the need for adequate
risk assessment and
management (as
outlined above); and that
formal internal auditing
processes be instituted
to ensure that NGOs
comply with the funding
conditions.

COMPLETED

It is recommended that
each Program identify the
practice areas where risk
to clients is compromised
because of a lack of
casework compliance
with statutory and policy
guidelines and to establish
why this is occurring.
From this analysis,
each Program needs to
institute a strategic plan
to address the problems
of compliance along
with appropriate goals,
timeframes and review
processes.

COMPLETED

It is recommended that
strategies be developed
to ensure that processes
of policy standardisation
within Programs be
expedited and that the
imperatives pertaining
to risk assessment and
management are clarified.
The standardisation
strategy should include
timeframes and a plan
for familiarising all
workers with the updated
requirements.

COMPLETED

The Department of Children and Families was created in January 2011.
Previously child protection services followed the Risk Management
Policy and Guidelines of the former Department of Health and Families.
The agency’s interim audit program includes examination of NGO
funding compliance controls.
A Risk Management (RM) process specific to the Department of
Children and Families is currently being developed. This process will
identify applicable service types and will include the need for funded
services to reflect the RM process as well as a need for agreed risk
assessments and management. Development of the RM process also
needs to identify (and resource) a process to ensure services can be
monitored against agreed risk management processes.

A Quality Framework was introduced in early 2008 and assisted in
monitoring compliance with legislation and policy. In 2009 a Quality
Summit was held to further develop strategies to improve compliance.
In response to the Board of Inquiry report and the commencement
of the Department of Children and Families the Quality and Practice
Framework has now been expanded within the DCF Care and
Protection Policy and Program Development Division.

As part of the previous Department of Health and Families, child
protection services undertook a review of policy and procedures and
was involved in the development of a cross program risk tool within the
Shared Client Case Management Framework.
With the establishment of the Department of Children and Families and
in line with the Board of Inquiry recommendations, a further review of
policy and risk management will be undertaken.
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29.

30.
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Recommendation

Actions

Given that recording
and documentation
problems were found
across all four Community
Services Programs, it is
recommended that the
relevant recommendations
pertaining to record
management in the two
internal reviews, should
apply to all four Programs.

COMPLETED - ONGOING

It is recommended
that each of the
Community Services
Programs develops a
comprehensive workforce
strategy to address
recruitment and retention
needs.

SUPERSEDED

As part of the previous Department of Health and Families, child
protection was involved in the review and updating of the Records
Management policy in December 2008. As a result of the creation of the
new Department of Children and Families, a further review considering
the new needs of the Department will be occurring.

This recommendation will be reported through DCF’s response to Board
of Inquiry recommendation 119.
As part of the previous Department of Health and Families, Child
Protection was involved in the development of the 2008-2011 Strategic
Workforce Plan and the 2008-2011 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Strategic Workforce Plan.
The Department of Children and Families is in the process of
developing a comprehensive strategic workforce strategy.
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Appendix 5 – Progress report: National Out-of-Home
Care Standards implementation
Department of Children and Families Progress Report June 2012
1.

2.

Standards

Actions

Children and young people
will be provided with stability
and security during their time
in care.

ONGOING

Children and young people
participate in decisions that
have an impact on their lives.

ONGOING

The Department of Children and Families is undertaking a policy review
to include permanency and stability planning for children in care.
The Department of Children and Families is undertaking legislative
reform in line with recommendations from the 2010 Board of Inquiry
“Growing them strong, together” report. These reforms will include short
term orders where the focus is on returning a child home, and where
this is not possible long term orders to promote stability. Structured
Decision Making tools are also being introduced to assist decision
making with regards to children returning home. Policies are being
amended to underpin the legislation and structured decision making
tools.

The Northern Territory’s legislation and policy supports children and
young people to participate in decision making during their time in care.
To further support this, a Charter for Children and Young People in Care
is being developed and a Community Visitor Scheme is being scoped.
Case plan policies and templates have been reviewed and new
templates are being developed that explicitly allow for the recording of a
child’s views.
CREATE NT has established regular mechanisms such as forums and
an annual survey to listen to the voices of children and young people.
A new complaints policy and process is being put in place that will make
it easier for children and carers to raise concerns.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander communities
participate in decisions
concerning the care and
placement of their children
and young people.

ONGOING
A peak body Strong Aboriginal Families, Together (SAF,T) has been
established to support and develop Aboriginal Child Care Agencies in
Darwin and Alice Springs.
Policies relating to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children in care
and the cultural case template are under review. The review will aim to
ensure that there is appropriate consultation and input from Aboriginal
families regarding the care of their children.
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4.

Standards

Actions

Each child and young person
has an individualised plan
that details their health,
education and other needs.

ONGOING
The Northern Territory’s legislation and policy requires all children in
care to have a current case plan. Policy also requires the development
of a cultural case plan where appropriate.
The case plan currently incorporates life domains including health and
education.
The case plan and cultural case plan are being reviewed in line with the
Board of Inquiry recommendations.
Structured Decision Making tools are being introduced to inform case
plans where a short term order is in place.

5.

Children and young
people have their physical,
developmental, psychosocial
and mental needs assessed
and attended to in a timely
matter.

COMPLETED
All children entering care are required to undergo a baseline
assessment to identify any areas of need including health, dental,
educational and psychosocial.
Case plans also provide life domains that assist in planning to address
any concerns identified in the baseline assessment and/or identified in
later assessments.
A case plan is required to be developed within two months of a child
coming into care and reviewed every six months thereafter.

6.

7.

Children and young
people in care access and
participate in education and
early childhood services to
maximise their educational
outcomes.

COMPLETED

Children and young people
up to at least 18 years are
supported to be engaged
in appropriate education,
training and/or employment.

COMPLETED

All children entering care are required to undergo a baseline
assessment to identify any areas of need including education.
Case plans assist in planning to ensure issues identified are
successfully addressed.
In 2008, the Joint Partnership Agreement for the Prioritisation of
Services for Students in Care was revised with the Department of
Education and Training. The Agreement articulates collaborative
working arrangements to deliver prioritised services to children in the
care of the CE.

The Care and Protection of Children Act makes provision for supporting
young people leaving care and for those who have already left care.
Northern Territory’s legislation and Departmental policy requires a
young person’s case plan to be modified prior to them leaving care to
ensure appropriate supports are in place.
The Department of Children and Families’ policy includes the provision
of support in relation to:
• Education or training, including payment of tertiary fees, purchase of
textbooks, relocation expenses to attend training or an educational
facility, and driving lessons.
• Employment, including the purchase of uniforms, tools required for a
position, safety equipment, and relocation expenses.
Through the National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness,
Anglicare NT is funded to deliver the Northern Territory-wide ‘Moving
On, After Care Support and Brokerage Service’. This service
commenced in May 2011 and provides information, assessments,
referral, advocacy, support and limited case management for young
people who have transitioned from care. The focus is on improving the
health, wellbeing and economic outcomes for these young people.
CREATE NT is providing a number of activities for children and young
people in care including ‘Create Your Future’ workshops.
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8.

Standards

Actions

Children and young people
in care are supported to
participate in social and/or
recreational activities of their
choice, such as sporting,
cultural or community activity.

COMPLETED
Taking a child’s view into consideration is a requirement in legislation
and is also upheld in policy.
The case plan template is flexible to allow workers to include social and
recreational activities that assist in the development of a child’s identity
and provide developmental opportunities.
The cultural case plan is also available to plan activities that will actively
support the child to take part in culturally relevant activities.

10.

11.

Children and young people
are supported to safely
and appropriately maintain
connection with family,
be they the birth parents,
siblings or other family
members.

COMPLETED

Children and young people
in care are supported to
develop their identity, safely
and appropriately, through
contact with their families,
friends, culture, spiritual
sources and communities
and have their life history
recorded as they grow up.

COMPLETED

Children and young people in
care are supported to safely
and appropriately identify and
stay in touch, with at least
one other person who cares
about their future, who they
can turn to for support and
advice.

COMPLETED

The Department of Children and Families Policy and Procedures
Manual provides guidelines to ensure family contact is supported.
The individual case plan developed for each child has a section devoted
to contact arrangements.

The Department of Children and Families Policy and Procedures
Manual provides guidelines to ensure family contact is supported.
Life story books are encouraged to enhance a child’s understanding of
their identity.
The individual case plans developed for each child have sections
devoted to the child’s sense of identity and contact with the family.
Where appropriate, cultural case plans are also developed to ensure
the child’s cultural knowledge and identity is maintained and developed.

Departmental policy recognises the importance of significant people in
the life of a child or young person.
The case plan template allows for the inclusion of a ‘Significant Other’
to be involved in ongoing contact arrangements for the child.
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12.

Standards

Actions

Carers are assessed and
receive relevant ongoing
training, development and
support, in order to provide
quality care.

ONGOING
There has been substantial review of policies relating to the
assessment, training and support of carers.
The Care and Protection of Children (Placement Arrangement)
Regulations came into force on 1 September 2010. These regulations
specify certain basic standards of care that must be provided to a child
at the placement arrangement.
The regulations are currently under review and input from the Aboriginal
Advisory Group had been sought.
Foster Care NT has been funded to deliver the FAST (Foster Care
Advocacy Support Team) program to provide support and mentoring to
foster and kinship carers.
The Carer handbook is under review and it is anticipated that it should
be released in late 2012.
A carer’s charter is to be developed in conjunction with carers and NGO
sector and Foster Care NT.
Life Without Barriers (LWB) was successful in its tender to assess and
train between 100 – 170 new foster carer applications; this commenced
on 1 February 2012. LWB has assessors in both Darwin and Alice
Springs.
On the DCF website, there is access to an electronic compliments
and complaints feedback form, which is forwarded onto the Practice,
Integrity Complaints Management Branch.

13.
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Children and young people
have a transition from care
plan commencing at 15 years
old which details support to
be provided after leaving
care.

COMPLETED
In the Northern Territory, it is both a legislative and a policy requirement
for a young person to have a Transition From Care Plan.
The Department of Children and Families has a policy entitled
Preparing Young People to leave Care which aims to support young
people aged 15 years and older.
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Disclaimer
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© Northern Territory Government

© Northern Territory Government
General enquiries about this publication
should be directed to:
Department of Children and Families
PO Box 40596,
Casuarina, NT 0811
http://www.childrenandfamilies.nt.gov.au/
Published October 2012
by Department of Children and Families

